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Abstract

This report includes four papers on the fort at Coteau-du-Lac. The first,
by George Ingram, is a narrative history of the post. It discusses the
reasons for the construction of the canal and post. The second report,

by Ingram and William Folan, deals with the individual features of the
fort, their separate histories and the structural information available
for them. A.E. Wilson contributed a paper reporting on a resistivity
survey of the site. The last paper, also by Ingram, discusses the history

and structure of the octagonal blockhouse at Coteau-du-Lac.
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Early Approaches

Very little development of the St. Lawrence was undertaken during the
French regime. In the early 17th century, explorers, traders and
missionaries preferred to travel to the interior of North America by

the Ottawa River, which posed fewer physical difficulties to travel to
the upper lakes; and besides, for the first half of the 17th century

the lower Great Lakes basin remained firmly in control of the belligerent
Iroguois. Only toward the end of the century was the St. Lawrence
considered as an alternate route and even then, physical difficulties

lirdted traffic on the river.

In these early years, travel on both the St., Lawrence and the Ottawa
was confined to the birchbark canoce. Borrowed from the Indian by the fur
trader, explorer and missionary, the canoe was easily portaged around
obstacles in the river and could carry cargoes of trade goods and furs
to and from the interior. As long as transportation needs were limited in
volume, the canoe was adequate to accommodate the traffic on the unimproved

St. Lawrence,

In the latter part of the 17th century, however, the French began
to build posts in the interior, establishing Fort Frontenac in 1673 and
later Niagara, Detroit and Michilimackinac. The posts were designed to
service the fur trade and to provide centres of French influence in the
interior. The growing threat of the English from the south introduced a

need for adequate defences.



The founding and support of these posts placed a tremendous demand
upon the existing lines of supply; no longer was the canoe adequate to
carry the increased quantities of provisions required for the garrisons,
the fittings of vessels being constructed on the interior lakes, and the
armament and equipment used in the forts. Turning to a more commodious
vessel the French began to use the bateau for travel on the upper St.
Lawrence, Although offering less flexibility than the canoce, only with
great difficulty could this durable wooden craft, flat bottomed with
pointed ends, be dragged or poled around obstacles in the river. Unlike
the canoe, which was portable and could be carried around the rapids,
the bateau could only skirt them at best, and frequently faced the brunt
of their fury; its introduction to inland riverine transport was followed
by a search for ways to improve the channels. These improvements were
slow to come, although some attempts were made. In the early 1700s, for
example, proposals were made for methods of by-passing the rapids at
Lachine., Bateaux could not navigate the river between Montreal and the
mouth of the Ottawa River, and a depot had been established at the upper
end of the Lachine rapids to serve as the starting point for expeditions
to the interior. The inconvenience of transporting goods to Lachine from
Montreal by land led to the consideration of a canal between the two

points, but the venture was never carried through to completion.

Attention was also given to the improvement of navigation around
the troublesome sections along the rest of the St. Lawrence, Little had
been accomplished, however, by the middle of the 138th century.
Chaussegros de Léry, travelling from Montreal to Detroit in 1749, noted

the difficulties of the passage in his journal describing the expedition.



When he reached Coteau du Lac, he was forced to leave the bateau with
part of the cargo while the men dragged the boat around the rapids at
considerable danger to themselv'es.1 Apparently some effort had been
made to improve the channel at Coteau du Lac by placing a 'chiine de
roches” around the outer perimeter of the point, creating a passage
through which boats could be towed to avoid the rapids. The attempts
were rudimentary, however, and de Léry's bateaux were forced out into

the rapids.

From 1749 to 1760, further improvements in navigation on the St.
Lawrence were few. In the 1750s there was too much concern with the
defence of the French possessions to allow the expending of men or

finances in construction of improvements on the river.

When Jeffery Amherst led his British forces down the St. Lawrence
to attack Montreal in 1760, the year after the fall of Quebec, they came
down a river virtually unimproved. After crossing Lake St. Francis on
their passage downstream, they met with disaster when attempting to pass
the rapids at Coteau du Lac and below.2 John Knox, who accompanied the
expedition, laconically reported the loss of '"forty-six batteaus,
seventeen whaleboats, and one row-galley, whereby eighty=four men were
unfortunately drowned, a few pieces of ordnance, and some stores and

provisions lost,.m3

After 1763, the British were slow to introduce any improvements of
their own. Early policy tended to restrict movement into the country west
of Montreal, although fur traders continued their annual voyages into

the interior. The British did retain some of the French posts,



however, and these garrisons still required provisions and supplies. The
occasional military expedition sent to the interior required transportation
by bateau. When Colonel John Bradstreet was sent to break up Pontiac's
siege of Detroit in 1764, a battalion of Canadians was recruited in

Quebec, Montreal and Three Rivers, along with skilled boatmen to man 100
bateaux carrying supplies which went up the St. Lawrence to meet
Bradstreet at Oswego in the spring., The British apparently continued to
use the system employed by the French, calling upon corvée labour to man

the boats which would be navigated by experienced Canadian pilots.h

With the outbreak of the American Revolution, the western posts
assumed a new significance. No longer were these fgr-trading centres
solely defended against the Indians but once again faced an enemy to the
south and east. The increased danger brought a need for considerable

strengthening.

Action at the western posts was postponed, however, by the difficul-
ties faced in the east. In September, 1775, the invading American forces
entered Canada and for the next year the whole energies of the British
command were taken up with the defence of Quebec and its immediate
approaches. American control of the Montreal area after 13 November
effectively cut off any extensive communication between Quebec and the

inland posts.

Quebec withstood the siege of the American troops throughout the
long winter, When reinforcements from England arrived in the spring, the
Americans were forced to drop back from their position before Quebec and

eventually to withdraw from the province., After their retreat, plans were



developed for a counter-offensive in 1777 under General Burgoyne. The
planning and launching of the offensive exhausted the resources of the
British command in Canada and restricted activity in the interior. The
offensive also led to Carleton's resignation; when he was not given
comnand of the campaign, he asked for recall to England., His replacement,
Frederick Haldimand, arrived in Canada the following summer, and, facing
an entirely different set of circumstances, approached the defence of his
command in a manner which placed greater importance on the St. Lawrence

route to the interior.



The Provision-Forwarding Post

When Frederick L., Haldimand stepped ashore at Quebec on 27 June 1778, he
faced a situvation much different from that which his predecessor had
faced. Carleton had been besieged in Quebec, been confronted with a
disaffected population, and seen his plans for an elaborate counter-
offensive fail, To Haldimand was left the more pedestrian yet essential
role of building and maintaining defences effective enough to prevent a
recurrence of the humiliating events of the winter of 1775=76, and of

harassing the enemy through sporadic border raids.

A month after his arrival at Quebec, Haldimand sat down to write a
detailed assessment of his new charge. His observations expressed the
fears and problems with which he would be occupied for the next six
critical years. Strategically Haldimand's new defensive role had a
different emphasis. At the time (July, 1778), Quebec itself appeared to
be safe from attack; but the weaknesses which permitted the easy march
of the Americans on Quebec in 1775 had to be removed. "My first care,"
wrote Haldimand, 'shall be to fortify, as strongly as possible, the
avenues into the Province .... St. Johns, Cataraqui, Oswego, Detroit,
Niagara, perhaps Presqu'Isle."l Great emphasis was placed on the western
posts; they were the first, and indeed the last defence of the British
position in America. Upon them depended the fur trade and the expensive

yet necessary contact with the Indians.

The relationship with the Indian was vexatious; Haldimand at first

looked upon it as a necessary evil, While not of much direct assistance



as allies of the British, as allies of the rebellious colonies they could
do mach harm and the Americans were '"leaving no stone unturned to gain
them," The Indians were retained as British allies by a continuation of
the expensive policy of annually distributing presents. Each year the
tribes gathered at British posts in the interior where they were given
the means of livelihood -~ seed, powder and shot, and other necessities.
The cost was great; added to the purchase price was the cost in time and
money of moving the goods from Montreal to the points of distribution
over a transportation system already faced with the task of carrying
military supplies and provisions to the British garrisons at the outlying

posts.

At the time of Haldimand's arrival, goods were being shipped by bateau
from Montreal to Oswegatchie and there transferred to the government
vessels which sailed on Lake Ontario. Haldimand planned to remove the
depot to Cataraqui (Kingston) from Oswegatchie, where the works were in
bad repair and navigation treacherous for lake vessels, By 28 July, a work
party was sent out to begin construction at Cataraqui. Stopping at Buck
Island on the way, Lieutenant William Twiss, R. E., and John Schank, R. N.,
decided a better site could be situated there because of more extensive
supplies of wood, a better, more sheltered harbour, and a healthier
climate. Construction began immediately on Fort Haldimand, The island,
re-named Carleton Island, served as the depot and transfer point from
river to lake navigation for the remainder of the Revolution. Private and
government goods alike passed over the St. Lawrence to Carleton Island,

and then continued on government vessels to the interior.,
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The transportation system of the Great Lakes was in turn dependent
upon the tenuous line of the St. Lawrence. The shear bulk of goods to be
transported in the short time permitted by the navigation season demanded
concentrated effort. By the spring of 1779, Haldimand turned to the relief
of the congestion on the river. Writing to Carleton he noted his resolu-
tion "o employ all my strength for the security of the upper posts and
the first object in doing this is forwarding and securing transport,'<
In April, Captain Brehm, Barrack Master General and later Haldimand's
aide-de=camp, was sent on a fact-finding mission to Detroit to inspect
the posts of the interior.3 As part of his survey, Brehm was ordered to
direct special attention to the rapids of the St. Lawrence.4 Haldimand
requested recommendations for the location of a warehouse at the Cedars
to serve the brigades of bateaux passing upstream, and suggestions for

the defence and improvement of the river passage.

Brehm's journey led directly to the establishment of major posts at
Coteau du Lac and at the Cedars. Arriving at the latter place 26 April
1779, he 'fixed upon a better place at the Cedars than where the landing
place is at present for a storehouse about 2 of a mile higher up, which
place has several advantages above the present landing,"> and "™wrote to
Mr., Maurer to send up carpenters to build the said storehouse.' He
delayed a final decision as to location until his return from Detroit
because the water in the river was then too high to allow him to make a

proper evaluation.

From Detroit, Brehm proposed further that the Cedars be turned into

a major establishment for the building of bateaux and for storage of
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provisions and stores brought there by sleigh during the winter for
transshipment.6 Haldimand felt that the relocation of the bateau workshop
would be too great an inconvenience, as the materials and workers were
situated at Montreal, but he did approve the building that fall of a
storehouse for 1,000 barrels of provisions and agreed to leave 100

bateaux there at the end of the navigation season.

Haldimand also counselled care in the selection of the site. Brehm
had spoken of the Cedars in his recommendations for the new depot and on
18 August when he reached the Cedars on his return, he found an engineer
and party erecting a storehouse.® But one week later Captain Leake was
ordered to Coteau du Lac with his corps to "afford every assistance to
the works carried on there."? Certainly Coteau du Lac was the site where
the station proposed by Brehm was eventually established. Its position at
the foot of Lake St, Francis made it a logical place to commence navigation
in the spring. Possibly the site was changed at the last moment from the
Cedars to Coteau du Lac. More likely, at the same time as the large store-
house was established at Coteau du Lac, another storechouse was under
construction at the Cedars where the provisions were landed and carried

around the treacherous rapids,

Haldimand's gnawing concern with the transportation to the interior
was reflected in the rapid progress of the project. With the last mail ship
of the fall he sent a report to Germain of his plan for the St. Lawrence.

A new ship had been built at Carleton Island, the fort improved, and very
extensive storehouses constructed. Even further improvements had been

necessary, however,
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for the provisions, the amazing consumption of which amongst
the Indians has obliged me to give more attention to this

Part of the Service than was ever necessary before, and has
induced me to build new storehouses very near Lake St., Frangois
which I know will considerably forward the Spring Transport
should the King!s Service require particular Exertion. The
Engineers Department has also been employed in improving the
navigation for Batteaux up the Rapids from Montreal to
Oswegatchie, an Improvement of the utmost consequence in case
the upper Posts are so strongly attacked as to Require an

Expeditious Reinforcement .10

In Canada, Haldimand personally pushed the work to completion so it would
be ready for the opening of navigation the following year. Toward the end
of November when he sent Lieutenant Twiss to report on the progress of
construction, he expressed concern that the installation be completed by
spring.ll Haldimand was no doubt relieved when Twiss reported that the
defences and storehouses were going up rapidly and noted ''in its present

state this will considerably advance the transport to the upper country.l2

The station at Coteau du Lac was conceived as a transshipment point;
goods could be placed in the warehouse there in the late fall or winter
and sent on at the spring breakup, thus allowing transportation to be
conducted on a year-round basis. Twiss went one step further, however;
upon seeing the site he appears to have recognized the potential of a

canal. "I am now forming a plan to render the passage of batteaux still
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more commodious,! he reported, Mand hope we shall be able to complete it
during next summer."3 Although not explicit, the recommendation

obviously carried the germ of the idea for canal improvements. Haldimand,
ever concerned with transportation problems, approved Twiss's plan unheard.14
Nevertheless, work did not begin on the canal until the following spring,
and in the meantime the provision-forwarding post as conceived by Captain

Brehm was put into operation.

The last bateaux before the freeze-up of the St. Lawrence brought
326 barrels of flour, 248 barrels of pork, and 49 barrels of peas up the
river for storage at Coteau du Lac until spring.15 In February, Nathaniel
Day, the Commissary General, prepared to begin winter transport.16 The
Governor approved of Day's plans which would "no doubt be a great saving
... besides the advantage of forwarding provisions early," and ordered
that they be implemented as soon as possible.l7 Day was ready; the land
transport was set in motion that week. He would visit the store at "Coté
du Lac" himself and "have the people and everything prepared for receiving
the provisions."18 The first supplies, flour and pork, would be marked
for "the most distant posts, viz. Niagara, Fort Erie, Detroit and
Michilimackinac.'" On the sixteenth, the sleighs loaded with 124 barrels of

flour set out from Montreal.

Day reported enthusiastically to Haldimand on his return to Montreal,1?

He suggested first that the name of the station should be changed to
Haldimand Point, a suggestion which Day alone appears to have adopted. The
storehouse at Coteau was, he felt, "properly proportioned and well built."

The middle loft which would contain about 1,000 barrels of English flour
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was assigned to dry storage. Pork was stowed on the ground floor and
"biscuit and necessaries for the Batteau men" in the upper loft. The
sleighs which travelled up on Tuesday and Wednesday of that week were
conducted by Canadians, each sleigh carrying three barrels of flour. The
sleighing of supplies continued throughout the month, and by the end of

February the transportation of provisions had been completed,<0

Additional supplies were sent during the course of the winter,
especially articles which were required in the interior as soon as
possible., For instance, when Haldimand was anxious to get Indian corn and
pumpkin seed to the upper posts for planting in the spring, he had them
forwarded to Coteau du Lac in March to be transshipped by the first
bateaux.21 Also, when the supply of rum was depleted at Carleton Island
forcing the garrison to turn to private traders, rum was sent to Coteau
du Lac so it would arrive at Carleton Island.immediately after spring

break—up.22

With the success of this small shipment of rum in puncheons, Day

proposed that a second storehouse be constructed exclusively for rum,

In future, a great part of this expense may be saved by having
a safe Store House at Coteau du Lac, to contain a sufficient
quantity of Rum for Oswegatchie, Carleton Island, and Niagara,
to be transported there during the slaying (sic) months in
Puncheons as these packages are sufficient when at Coteau du
Lac for the above Posts, and barrel's would be only necessary
for Detroit and Michilimackinac to be sent from Lachine when

the River opens.23
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Haldimand thought that Day's observation was "a just one' and recommended
the erection of a 'proper store for the reception of rum," for there was

more than one storehouse at Coteau du Lac by the following fall.%
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A Canal is Added

Only limited results could be expected from the depot at Coteau du Lac;
at most the use of the depot would gain a few weeks in the navigation
season. The suggestion of a canal by Twiss in December, 1779, offered a
more permanent, and in the long run a more significant, solution to
transportation on the upper St. Lawrence. By easing and therefore
speeding up river traffic, more boats could be sent over the bottleneck
during the shipping months. When combined with other canal construction
and navigational improvements during the remainder of the American
Revolution, the result would be a viable bulk transportation system which
would be the springboard for expansion into the interior at the turn of

the century.

In advocating a canal improvement of the St. Lawrence, Twiss was
reflecting the current canal boom in England, just reaching the height
of the first wave of expansion in the 1770s; the completion of the Duke
of Bridgewater's canal from Worsley to Manchester in 1761 set off a
frenzy of construction which was resulting in the completion and successful
operation of a series of canals in England. Canal con;truction was a
tried and successful venture by 1779 and a logical solution to be

introduced in Canada by an English engineer,

The situation at Coteau du Lac lent itself well to canal construction.
By making a straight cut through the point of land and compensating for

an eight-foot drop in water level, a canal could be created which would
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allow bateaux approaching along the shore to bypass the treacherous
Coteau rapids. Twiss's plans were worked out over the winter and by
spring, construction on the canal was under way. On 16 March, artificers
and sawyers from Sir John Johnson's corps were ordered *to forward the
works carrying on at Coteau du Lac' where they would be employed 'under
the direction of the person in charge of the Engineer's Department
stationed there."l Artificers connected with the regulars under Lieuten-

ant Colonel St. Leger as well as Royal Yorkers were employed.2

Twiss was extremely pleased with the progress of the canal when he
visited Coteau du Lac in the early part of June, 17€0.3 The project was
'pushing forward with great industry" and he was 'in hopes to complete
the locks for passing bateaux by the end of September.™ Twiss could be
permitted a bit of exaggeration in claiming his locks would be "as useful
to navigation as any in the world," for the canal was a decided improve-
ment on navigation of the river, and probably was the first of its type

in North America.

As Twiss had promised, the canal was finished in 1780, ready for
navigation in the spring. Work continued on the canal through the summer.
In June, Captain Leak's company of Royal Yorkers was ordered to assist
with the works at Coteau du Lac and in August, men of the 2nd Battalion,
Sir John Johnson's corps were sent to give assistance.t In the fall,
Haldimand reported to Germain the efforts which had been made to improve

navigation.

Having frequently mentioned the difficulty of transporting

Provisions to the upper Posts, I beg to add that we have used
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our Endeavours to lessen them as much as possible, particularly
at Céteau du Lac, where new Store Houses are erected & a very

compleat Canal finished, by which loaded bateaux pass thru three
Locks & avoid a most tedious and laborious passage up a violent

Rapid.’

When William Twiss visited the post later in February, he reported that
the canal "was very compleat and in good order, "6 Anticipating the
opening of the canal in the spring, he called together a meeting of the
merchants on his return to Montreal to obtain their consent for the
imposition of tolls "as their trade would always reap the advantage of
such improvements."7 "The justice of this was allowed," Twiss reported,
and they all voluntarily and with great cheerfulness consented to pay
10 shillings currency for each bateau which passes the new locks."
Haldimand expressed delight with the prospect of tolls and hoped that the

government would be 'materially reimbursed. ™

The canal was merely another attack on the navigational problems of
the river. The provision depot continued to function in conjunction with
the canal. In the summer of 1780, more buildings, mainly dwellings and
stables, were added to the complex, and a company of bateau men, consisting
of Loyalists commanded by Mr. Herkimer,? was ordered to be formed in July
to conduct the goods from Coteau-du-Lac. They were charged with assisting

the transport of provisions to Carleton Island in the summer months.

At first the bateau men appear to have caused a great deal of trouble,

In September, ILieutenant Maurer, the inspector of bateaux, was sent to
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Coteau du Lac "to throw them into order that they may become useful."
Reports had noted that the men recruited were not very fit and were more
interested in financial gain than service. Mr., Herkimer seemed to be
collecting "women and children rather than men.™O  The reports were
confirmed by Maurer's visit. lMost of the men were quite old, some no more
than "idle drunken vagabonds."™ The large number, "72 souls,'" was more a
drain on the transportation system than an aid to it.ll As a result,
Maurer was given over-all supervision of the company, and returned to
Coteau du Lac once again at the end of October to implement reform. Six
men were dismissed immediately as useless; of the remainder all but two

were fit for service on the bateaux.

There remain only 2 white men who are unfit for the Batteaux
service; but very necessary and serviceable at the place. The
one to take care of the Canal & the other, who is a carpenter,
I have ordered to be employ'd in making oars, setting Poles &
Paddles for the Batteaux service. The 2 old negroes who are
coopers I have provided with Tools and order'd to prepare wood
to make 200, 4-gallon Keggs for the use of the Batteaux men;
and as numbers of barrel's are wanted for the service in the
course of a year, whenever they have finish'd the keggs they
may be employ'd in making barrel'!s. There remain 4 more old
negroes belonging to Sr John, whom I order'd to remain untill

his return.12

The others would be used to replace sick bateau men on the regular crews
so they could learn the river route and become less dependent on the

Canadian pilots.
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On the whole, the men of the bateau company were a wretched lot.
Shortly after Maurer had completed his inspection, Herkimer wrote
informing him that Haldimand had promised ''a suit of cloath to his men.'
"They are entirely naked,'" noted Maurer in passing along the request to
Haldimand, "I could not send but five of them off to Carleton Island for
want of cloathing.'3 Probably much to their relief, they were given a

suit of clothing "such as Loyalists receive.'ld

The tight schedule of supply continued to frustrate Haldimand. Over
the physical problem of transportation west from Montreal he had at least
some control. The establishment at Coteau du Lac and improvements in
navigation had been instituted to overcome this obstacle. But in order
for the transportation system to operate properly, he must have a reserve
of goods in Montreal which could be moved over this system when the
opportunity was offered. Iach year the supply ships from England arrived
late, robbing him of valuable time in the transportation season. In
desperation, Haldimand wrote to Germain describing the difficulties

brought on by the late arrival of the ships.

The great consumption at the Posts indispensably requires that
the Transport should begin immediately upon the River breaking
up and to forward it, a large Quantity of Provisions is conveyed
in the Course of the Winter upon the Ice to Coteau-~du~Lac passed
the most difficult rapids. This can be done only by having it
ready in store at Montreal from whence if the Victuallers should
not arrive, I shall be obliged to withdraw it, and the conse-

quence to the Posts may be very fatal, as their stores are
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generally exhausted by the 1lst of June, and supplies cannot
be conveyed from hence to Niagara in less time than six weeks
after their arrival from Europe which has not been these two

last years before the end of June and middle of August.15

In spite of the difficulties, the winter transport to Coteau du Lac
continued that year. In the fall, 14 bateaux stopped at Coteau du Lac
with 272 casks of flour and 38 of peas.lé By 24 December 1780, a
considerable quantity of goods had been left in store.1? Other lots of
goods were sent up intermittently as in the previous year; for instance
in November, Maurer reported to Mathews that 'leggins and cloath for
making them' for Colonel Butler'!s rangers would be ''sent to Coteau du Lac
in the course of the winter, and by that means would be up very early in
the Spring."18 The winter transport began in earnest in March when Day
visited the post and reported to Haldimand that he planned to forward 350
more puncheons of rum for early transport to Carleton Island.}? By the
end of March, 198 bushels of Indian corn had been stored in the warehouse,
probably intended for spring planting as directions were given ''for
sending the Indian Corn in the first bateaux that leave Coteau du Lac, <0

The spring transport from the post began in the first week of May.Zl

Day had noted that Coteau du Lac had become '"a place of consequence."
Dennis, the commissariat issuer, complaining of the man in charge at Coteau
du Lac, explained that "Coteau du Lac is at present a post of the greatest
importance, as it is now the repository of all the stores for the whole
upper country and consequently requires the greatest activity and attach-

ment to business to forward them with dispatch."22 Its function was "o
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receive and expedite the transport of provisions."23 To perform the
services connected with the warehouses, the transfer of stores at the
beginninz of the navigation season and the operation of the canal, which
would begin that spring, a large number of retainers was stationed at

Coteau du Lac.

In his February visit, Twiss observed the growth which had taken

place at the post.

The new Storehouszs and other Buildings at Coteau du Lac are
all compleat and Captain Harkiman[siélhas lodged himself and
his men very comfortably, he has also begun other Buildings
in case his company should be increased: —- upon the whole

the post is in much better order than I expected to find it 2

Quite a settlement had grown up consisting of the men of the bateau company
and their families and ''a number of woimen and children under the denomina-
tion of Royalists" who had "seated themselves in and about Coteau du Lac."25
Apparently, even a "public housc™ had been established there, although

the sutler, Mr. Falconer, was '"ordered down to Montreal' and '"positive
directions'" given "not to permit any person whatsoever directly or
indirectly within or without the fort to keep a house of entertainment

where retail liquor -- a practice so evidently prejudicial to the

transport, and to the tranquility of the Indians —- must not be suffered."26
The growth in activity at Coteau du Lac also prompted the stationing of an
assistant commissary officer there in lMarch. Previously, the commissariat
matters appear to have been handled by the commissariat officer at the

Cedars. Unfortunately, the new appointee, Mr., Keho, brought a 'girl of the
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towvn” with him to his posting.27 He was summarily removed in April and
his place taken by Dennis, 'the Senior Commissary in that neighbourhood, ™

probably until a replacement could be found.<8

The increase in the importance of the post was also reflected in the
concern for its defence. When Twiss arrived there in February, the 30
men of Herkimer's company had only '"ten Indian fuzels but no ammmition,'<?
Twiss handed over some powder which remained from the work on the canal
and upon his return "30 stand of Indian arms'' with the necessary ammuni-
tion were sent to Coteau du Lac for the bateau men.30 1In May, Maurer
visited the site with instructions to apply for a subaltern's detachment
if necessary ''for the safety of the stores or better management of the
transport."3l On his recommendation a detachment was obtained from
General McLean, apparently consisting of men from the Royal Regiment of
New York, so thie bateau men could be free to work in the transportation

32

service.

The need for an adequate garrison became even more pressing in July
when Haldimand decided to establish a prisoner of war camp on Prisoner's
(now Arthurts) Island opposite the post at Coteau du Lac.23 By October,
prisoners were already being brought there from other camps in the province
and the barracks was '"in good forwardness."34 Among those sent from
Montreal in the fall of 1781 was Zadock Steele, who had been captured in
the Indian raid at Royalton on 16 October 17¢0. Steele, interned for about
one year at Coteau du Lac, left a vivid account describing the harshness
of his captivity (probably somewhat exaggerated) and the events surrounding

his dramatic escape.
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The Royal Yorkers making up the camp guard he dismissed as "a company
of refugees and Tories possessing as little humanity as patriotism."35
And according to Steele, they found compensation for their harsh treatment
as Loyalists in the 13 colonies by maltreating the prisoners. However
Steele did not complain strongly about the food nor the barracks accommo-
dation. The prisoners were placed 12 to a room in log barracks while the
guards were housed in separate dwellings. The whole compound was surrounded

by a palisade.

In August, 1732, Steele and his barracks mates began to dig a tunnel
from their room to the outside of the wall using only a jackknife. In the
month that followed they encountered problems which had all the
characteristics of an escape story of World War II; and their methods of
avoiding detection, of masking their activity and of disposing of
excavated material were strikingly similar to those employed by their
modern counterparts. On the tenth of September, Steele and his associates
successfully went through their tunnel to freedom and eventually made
their way to their homes in the 13 colonies. Most of the prisoners were
not so fortunate. Because the camp was located on an island it offered
few occasions for escape. At the peak of its activity the camp held close

to 200 prisoners, making it one of the largest in the Montreal district.

The prison compound on the island was only a small part of the
operation at Coteau du Lac. The canal and storehouses, bateau company and
Canadians continued to make the most significant contribution in their
implementation of the transportation of supplies. By the fall of 1781, a

routine had been established at Coteau du Lac which lasted until the end
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of the revolution. Canals were added to bypass other troublesome points
on the river at Split Rock and Cascades, and together with that at
Coteau du Lac they formed the transportation system which carried
essential goods and materials to the upper posts. As usual, in the
winters of 17¢1-52 and 1782-C3, seeds, provisions and other goods were
forwarded to Coteau du Lac from Montreal and Lachine and were sent on in
the spring. The garrison continued to grow and the facilities were
expanded to accommodate them. Bateaw: vere stationed at Coteau-du-Lac,

and some may have been constructed there.

The post at Coteau du Lac continued to serve as a military post
until the spring of 17&3 when the revolution was all but over. Then, in
the dying days of the war, more civilian traffic began to pass through
the canal. Loyalist refugees poured into the interior over the
St. Lawrence route, presaging the change in activity which would follow

the war.
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The Inter-War Period: 1763-1812

There was no definite turning point between the conditions of war and the
conditions of peace, but late in 1782 and in 1783, Loyalist refugees and
their families began to pour into the upper country as it became evident
that the war had been lost. To the already burdensome task of military
transport was added the problem of transporting the Loyalists and the
supplies they required for establishing themselves in their first yvears
in the new land. The transition was not an easy one. The government was
ill-equipped and poorly prepared to handle a civilian population in the
upper country where previous policy had limited European penetration.
With reluctance at first, but eventually with enthusiasm, Haldimand made
arrangements to accommodate the new settlers: treaties were concluded
with the Indians for the purchase of land; surveys were made of the
various parts of the interior, and an organized grid of townships was

established.

The Loyalists were given considerable assistance. Land grants were
made according to rank in the colonial forces, although civilian Loyalists
also received land. They were assisted in their journey up the river and
given implements for working their new grants as well as rations to provide
for the period before their own land would yield sustenance. In 1784,
when Haldimand left the province, there were 6,152 refugees of which
5,576 were drawing full rations, a situation which continued until the

fall of 1766.
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Coteau du Lac played a key role in the supply and transport of the
Loyalists much the same as it had done in a military capacity during the
war. For the remainder of the winter of 1782-583 the post continued with
the task of supplying the upper posts. By the summer of 1783, however, a
start was made in easing out the Revolutionary War establishment. Twiss
visited the site in August and gave a very unfavourable report on
Herkimer's crew; as far as he was concerned they were now "totally
useless.™l 1In September, 'several persons' applied 'to have their
negroes from Herkimer's Company’ and were given permission to take them, 2
And by 1784 or 1785, Herkimer had already settled in the Cataraqui
townships, an indication that the bateau company had been disbanded.3 It
had been formed to meet the emergency demands of the war, and although
the strains on the transportation system continued after the war, a

special corps of bateau men was no longer needed.

Coteau du Lac continued to serve as a forwarding post for supplies
consumed at the interior military posts and in the Loyalist settlements.
In June, 1784, Sir John Johnson wrote to Haldimand asking that provisions
be forwarded to Coteau du Lac for the settlers '"to prevent their coming
down for it.mh Apparently some Loyalists had remained behind on an
island to cultivate vegetables.5 Haldimand had provisions sent up
immediately, and also ordered bateaux to Coteau du Lac to implement the
transportation of the Loyalists inland.6 In the fall, provisions for the
Loyalists were added to those sent forward for the military posts to be

stored at Coteau du Lac until the opening of navigation in the spr:'Lng.'7

Within a few years after the revolution, the Loyalists were settled

sufficiently to take care of their own requirements, and the role of
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Coteau du Lac in government supply was restricted to the provisioning of
the garrisons of the western posts. Even this role declined by the 1790s
as the interior settlements began producing a large enough surplus to
provide most of the provisions required by the garrisons, although the
government continued to ship specialized goods over the transportation

route.

Gradually the buildings of the extensive Revolutionary War installa-
tion fell into disuse. A passing traveller in 1787 noted that 'the
storehouses appear to be in good condition but the blockhouses, barracks,
and stockade are going fast to ruin .... the barracks etc. upon Prison
Island are in the like state of decay."8 At that time a small detachment
consisting of a sergeant and 12 men of the 34th Regiment were garrisoned at
the post. In 1792 Gother Mann, R. E., visited Coteau du Lac and recommen-
ded that only the canal and the buildings used by the detachment or in
the service of transport be repaired.9 Although Mann acknowledged the
importance of the river Cataraqui (the St. Lawrence) as "the great
communication from Lower to Upper Canada,'" and the contribution of the
canals toward making 'mavigation less hazardous and tedious than formerly,"
he did not feel that defence works would be 'mecessary or useful" at
Coteau du Lac.10 Only Prison Island should be chosen as a site for a
battery, if indeed defences were needed. Two years later when the
"intrigues and influence of France' combined with the ill-feelings
generated in the United States by the retention of the western posts made
war appear inevitable, Lord Dorchester wrote to Governor Simcoe, impressing

on him the importance of defending the transportation route, especially
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the upper part of the river St. Lawrence.ll But nothing appears to have
been done to place the defences of Coteau du Lac in order. Instead, only
a token garrison was retained into the 19th century. When war with the

United States broke out in 1812, the defences were completely in ruins.

During the period from 1783 to 1812, the principal activity at
Coteau du Lac revolved around the canal and was of a civilian nature. As
the settlements grew in the interior, a two-way trade was established:
new demands were created for goods which the settlers could not produce
themselves, and within a decade the farms recently carved out of the
wilderness began to produce a surplus of agricultural goods which were
floated down to merchants on the lower St. Lawrence. Haldimand, in
transferring the accounts of the Marine Department to the Quartermaster
General in 1784, noted that the revenues from the tolls should be applied
"to the necessary repairs it will require, and to the further improvement
of that Route for the transport to the Upper Country which is now become

an object of greater consequence on Account of the new Settlements.™l2

By the 1790s the population, consisting mainly of ILoyalists and late
Loyalists, had grown large enough to bring about the creation in 1791 of
a separate province, Upper Canada, divided from the old province of Quebec,
Lower Canada, slightly west of Coteau du Lac. Although the canal remained
within the old province, it shared the fortunes of the increasing settle-
ment of Upper Canada. During the revolution and in the years that followed,
canals similar to that at Coteau du Lac had been added at Split Rock,
Cascades and Moulin, easing the navigation for bateaux between Lake St.

Francis and Lake St. Louis. At the same time, a group of merchants became
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established in the interior specializing in the transport to Montreal of
the raw materials -- wheat, flour, potash, pork and lumber -- produced
by Upper Canadian farmers. In return they traded manufactured goods and
other necessities not produced by the settlers: spirits, nails, glass,
stationery, fustians, muslins, serge, silverwork, earthenware, plow
shares, stoves, soap, candlesticks, candle moulds, carrot tobacco, and

SO On.

The principal method of transportation was by bateau. Of the many

descriptions of this craft, Isaac Weld!s is one of the most complete.

A bateau is a particular kind of boat, very generally used
upon the large rivers and lakes in Canada. The bottom of it
is perfectly flat, and each end is built very sharp, and
exactly alike. The sides are about four feet high, and, for
the convenience of the rowers, four or five benches are laid
across, sometimes more, according to the length of the bateau.
It is a very heavy awkward sort of vessel, either for rowing
or for sailing, but it is preferred to a boat with a keel for
two very obvious reasons; first, because it draws less water,
at the same time that it carries a larger burthen; and
secondly, because it is much safer on lakes or wide rivers

where storms are frequent.13

By 1800, increasing demand on the transportation system led the merchants
to enlarge the size of the boat used. In most cases they turned to the
Durham boat, which had been used extensively in the northern United

States. In that year, Gother Mann complained that the canals on the
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St. Lawrence could no longer accommodate the traffic on the river.

The merchants have for some time found it advantageous to
increase considerably the dimensions of their Boats navigating
the River between Montreal and Kingston, and there is a desire
of carrying this improvement still further; in consequence

the present Locks and Canals are not only deficient in depth
of water, but are likewise too narrow: the boats pass with
difficulty and are obliged to have a part of their lading
taken out, which occasions considerable additional labor

and delay.lh

"The great convenience of the locks in a proper state™ made it requisite
that they be attended to immediately. The yearly returns from the tolls
which he calculated at about £600 would more than repay the expense of
the alterations. The changes would be necessary particularly for traffic
moving upstream. Raw materials travelling downstream generally bypassed
the canals, especially as lumber, floated down in rafts, became a

significant item of the export trade.

Richard Cartwright was typical of the merchants dependent upon the
St. Léwrence transportation system. In partnership with Robert Hamilton,
he "filled the dual role of wholesaler and 'agent for transport'! to the
upper country."l5 During the revolution his operation was based on
Carleton Island, and later he shifted his operation to Cataraqui, where
he operated a general store. Cartwright did his business through a

Montreal agency, Todd and McGill, which handled all his Montreal affairs



and dealt in turn with a London firm. In general, this was the procedure

followed by all the merchants working in the interior.16

Most of the goods for upper Canadian merchants were brought over the
St. Lawrence system through the canals, and as the population of the
upper province grew, civilian traffic on the river increased proportion-
ally. A lock-master was stationed at the locks and the canal was kept in
repair by annual maintenance. The tolls collected from the private boats
passing through the locks on the St. Lawrence were either collected at

the individual canals or levied at Lachine for the whole system.

The growth of population which prompted the creation of a separate
province in 1791 and the growing trade in the interior created difficul-
ties in relation to the division of customs duties. In the old province
of Quebec, import duties on goods entering the country had been levied at
Quebec. As long as the source of revenue went into the coffers of one
government, no problem arose; however, with the growth of settlement in
the interior a proportion of these imported goods passed from Quebec to
Upper Canada. After 1791, the government of Upper Canada claimed part of
the revenue from the Quebec customs. Various suggestions were made for
dividing the revenues, but not until 1797 was a mutually acceptable
solution found. A customs collector paid by the legislatures of Upper and
Lower Canada was stationed at Coteau du Lac to record the dutiable goods
passing into the upper country especially from the lower province but

also from the United States. Twice yearly he reported to the legislatures.

The solution was a compromise, and like most compromises received a

great deal of criticism. With the expansion of settlement to the west and
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the commencing of settlement on the Ottawa River, a collector at Coteau
du Lac could not keep account of all goods passing into Upper Canada. In
1816, the whole situation of the collector was reviewed when Upper Canada
complained bitterly about its share of the revenues.T! No solution was
found then and in the years immediately following. Eventually, with the
passing of the Canada Trade Act in 1822, the share allotted to Upper
Canada was calculated from population figures; nevertheless a customs
collector continued to be statioﬁed at Coteau du Lac to check goods

entering from the United States.

Between 1783 and 1812, the operation at Coteau du Lac was directed
toward peacetime pursuits. To better handle merchant traffic, the canal
was enlarged between 1801 and 1804 and continued to serve until the War
of 1812, With the outbreak of war, the activity of the post returned to
a military function. Although merchants continued to take their vessels
through the locks, the primary concern was now the transport of troops
and prcvisions for defence against the invading forces from the south.
Coteau du Lac was once again thrust from a quiet peacetime service role
to the centre of the stage, a strategically important position on the

vulnerable St. Lawrence route.
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War of 1812

Relations between Great Britain and the United States remained strained
for some years following the revolution. The retention of the British
posts in the territory of the southwest ceded to the United States by the
peace terms rankled the Americans until the eventual surrender of the
posts in 1796. In the years that followed, a long series of incidents
connected with the Napoleonic conflict in Europe strained Canadian-
American relations to the breaking point. It was evident that any war
would be fought on Canadian soil and that Great Britain, preoccupied with
the campaign in Europe, would be able to extend little or no aid to the
colony: nothing had been done toward strengthening the border defences.
Certainly those at Coteau du Lac had been left untouched aflter the
revolution when only a caretaker garrison was left in charge; but as the
possibility of war approached there could be little doubt that the St.

Lawrence and Coteau du Lac would play an important role.

The recent interior settlement raised numerous questions concerning
the traditional system of defence. During the revolution, the western
posts had been considered of sufficient strategic importance to occasion
defence: but in the event of their loss, only the posts themselves and
the unsettled territory would have changed hands., Considerably more was at
stake now, and yet important as they might be, the settlements were

extremely vulnerable to attack.

Consequently, the British command was reluctant to abandon the

longstanding scheme of defence based in Quebec. Only Quebec was considered
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capable of defence: in the event of attack, the British forces in North
America would retire to the citadel at Quebec and maintain the position
until reinforcements could be sent from the mother country. The territory
in the interior was considered expendable; if lost temporarily, it could
be recovered after the arrival of reinforcements from Great Britain. As
late as 1808, Lieutenant Governor Francis Gore of Upper Canada,

Isaac Brock and Sir James Craig, newly arrived in the country, could
agree that it was impossible to defend Upper Canada against anything

except Ma partial or sudden incursion,":

The Quebec theory of defence began to meet challenge with the creation
of the separate upper province in 1791. The first civil governor,
John Graves Simcoe, unwilling to see his charge condemned so readily,
protested that defence was possible as long as control of the lakes and
the vital line of communication down the St. Lawrence to Montreal were
retained. And Brock, in a similar position in 1811, claimed that by
maintaining control of the lakes and obtaining the loyal service of the

western tribes, a stand could be taken.

On the eve of the war, however, the Quebec theory, only slightly
qualified, prevailed. "Quebec is the only permanent Fortress in the
Canadas,”™ wrote Sir George Prevost, the cortmander-in-chief of the British

forces in the Canadas in May, 1812,

It is the Key to the whole and must be maintained:- To the final
defence of this position, every other Military operation ought
to become subservient, and the retreat of the Troops upon Quebec

mist be the primary consideration ....
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In framing a general out line of Cooperation for defence
with the Forces in Upper Canada, cormensurate with our
deficiency in strength, I have considered the preservation of
Quebec as the first object, and to which all other must be
subordinate:= Defective as Quebec is, it is the only Post that
can be considered as tenable for a moment, the preservation of
it being of the utmost consequence to the Canadas, as the door
of entry for that Force The King's Government might find it
expedient to send for the recovery of both, or either of these
Provinces, altho! the pressure of the movement in the present
extended range of Warfare might not allow the sending of that
force which would defend both, therefore considering Quebec in

this view, its importance can at once be appreciated.

If the Americans are determined to attack Canada, it would
be in vain the General should flatter himself with the hopes of
making an effectual defence of the open Country, unless powerfully
assisted from Home:- All predatory or ill concerted attacks
undertaken presumptuously and without sufficient means, can be
resisted and repulsed:- Still this must be done with caution,
that the resources, for a future exertion, the defence of Quebec

may be unexhausted.2

However, Prevost made some provisions for the defence of the upper country
and especially of the St. Lawrence. '"In the event of Hostilities,™ he
noted, "it will be indispensably necessary for the preservation of a

Communication between the Lower and the Upper Province, to establish some
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strong Post for the Regulars and Militia, to secure the Navigation of the
St. Lawrence above the Rapids to Lake Ontario."3 Whether Upper Canada
were defended or abandoned, the successful defence of the country depended
upon the St. Lawrence; at all costs, the line of communication and supply
between lMontreal and the inland garrisons must be maintained, not only to
ensure possession of the upper province but to keep open an avenue for an

orderly retreat to Quebec in the event of a serious attack.

The defence of the Great Lakes and St. Lawrence system was an object
of irmediate concern. In July, Prevost reinforced Kingston '"for the
preservation of the communication between Upper and Lower Canada, thereby
securing, in an extreme case of being attacked by an overwhelming force,

a retreat for the Regulars & Loyalists embodied."™ On the Great Lakes,
the Provincial Marine was responsible for keeping open the flow of supplies.
The upper St. Lawrence presented a more difficult problem. In addition to
the physical difficulties of transporting supplies over the turbulent
waters, there was the threat of attack from American raiding parties:
three-quarters of the river's length was vulnerable to attack from the
south. Colonel Robert Lethbridge, Inspecting Field Officer of Militia,

was appointed to take command of Kingston and the surrounding district.
Included in his charge was the line of communication with Lower Canada.

He was ordered to report on the state of the various militia units and to
recommend positions where defences should be established. A convoy system
would be introduced to protect the bateaux carrying supplies along the
river. Because the ordinary militia was considered inefficient and usually

lacked arms, Lethbridge recommended that only the flank companies be used
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to guard the river channel and to provide escorts for the convoys of

bateaux and sleighs.5

Coteau du Tac was an importarnt cog in the defence and transportation
systems, and the early months, July and August, established the role
which it would have for the remainder of the war. The position itself,
unlike the St. Lawrence along most of its length, was not particularly
vulnerable to attack directly from the south; a part of Lower Canada lay
below the St. Lawrence at this point and settlement had not yet moved
extensively into the adjacent territory of the United States. Nor was
there an easy land invasion route to the post. Invasion, if it came,
would move down the St. Lawrence past Kingston and Prescott where the
British now concentrated to defend against an attack from the American
settlements directly across the river. Later in 1813, more elaborate
fortifications would be erected at Coteau du Lac to defend the river

passage in the event of a successful turning of the upper defences.

The principal activity at Coteau du Lac was involved with the
transportation system. Throughout the war, every allotment of provisions,
equipment or ammunition and detachment of troops sent from Quebec to the
upper country either marched or was carried past the post in bateaux or
sleighs. Protecting the convoys and ensuring their swift passage were the

main concerns of the garrison.

The bateaux travelling up from Lachine were organized into convoys
and protected in their passage by militia. A special corps of voyapeurs

(disbanded in 1813) was formed from employees of the North West Company
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and additional bateau men were obtained from the militia of Lower Canada
and paid the regular rates for militia service., If available, troops
moving inland accompanied the convoys up-river.6 Detachments sent from
Montreal to reinforce the garrison at Coteau du Lac or other interior
posts timed their passage to afford protection for bateauw: travelling
upstream. In October, for example, when a detachment of Canadian Fencibles
was added to the small garrison of Royal Veterans, it was ordered to form

7

an escort for a brigade of boats leaving Lachine.

Although the garrison at Coteau du Lac was reinforced, no efforts
had been made to strengthen the defences, Neglect formed a general pattern
throughout the province where nc important permanent defensive measures
had been taken. The early months of the war were marked with a lame-duck
atmosphere. Prevost was reluctant to undertake offensive measures and
indeed was under direct orders to avoid them; the feeling of the Quebec
command, echoed in Whitehall, was that a long and bitter conflict with
the United States could still be avoided. At first their thinking appeared
to have a solid basis. Detroit and Michilimackinac had been captured by
the British and the abortive American invasion on the Niagara perinsula
had been turned back at Queenston Heights; but otherwise an ineffective
American command had been unable to mount a sustained oiffensive. By
December, however, it became patently clear that 'Mr., Madison's War®
would not be resolved by the confused and ineffective skirmishing of the

early months.

Tn December, Prevost's thoughts turned to a more permanent scheme

of defence and preparation for a war which threatened to be of long
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duration. Major Hughes, R.E., was ordered to Quebec to relieve the
conmanding Royal Ingineer, Lieutcnant Colonel Ralph Henry Bruyéres for
"an extensive tour, for inspecting the works of fortification in the two
provinces."8 Bruyéres set out in January and wrote from Prescott on the
fourteenth to report his progress from Lachine., Various measures should
be implemented for the defence of the river route: Mill Point at the
Cedars should be provided with a fortified encampment; a blockhouse
should be constructed at the River Raisin, and Glengarry House and the
town of Cornwall should be fortified. Coteau du Lac was selected for

special consideration.

Coteau du Lac nine miles above the village of the Cedars is a
most essential and important position which effectually commands
the passage of the Rapids at this point. This Post should be
strengthened and occupied as soon as possible, I recommend to
construct a Block House on the Point to contain 200 men, also

to enclose and entrench the position; to be armed with two 12
pdrs and two brass 6 pdrs to serve as moveable guns, to take
post on some very commanding and projecting points between that
Post, and the Cascades. It will be further necessary to occupy
the upper end of Prison Island immediately opposite the Coteau
with a Block House to contain /0 men and a small Battery in
front for two 12 pdrs. to command the Channel. The present Block
Houses and Buildings on this point are totally decayed and

9

unserviceable.
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The improvements recommended for Coteau du Lac exceeded by far those
suggested for other positions along the St. Lawrence below Cornwall;
Coteau du Lac already significant for its role in transportation was

selected as a major defensive position on that part of the river.

No time was lost in the implementation of Bruyéres' suggested scheme
of defence., Early in April, Captain J. Gray of the 5th Embodied Militia
was appointed assistant engineer "to superintend and carry on the works
at Coteau du Lac (Capt. Gray is a good architect, has always employed
himself in carrying on extensive improvements and is in every respect
perfectly competent to conduct public works of any extent or importance)."lO
From then until the end of the war, requests were made for more artificers
and materials for the construction work. The completed fortifications
incorporated many of the features of Bruyérest! earlier suggestions, but

in the end proved more extensive than even he had planned.ll

The artificers and labourers involved in the construction swelled
the already growing number of men at the post. The garrison changed
frequently: because it was located on the main transportation line to the
upper province and was an important staging point on the route, Coteau du
Lac was often chosen as a stopover for troops on their way to the interior.
Their period of residence varied from a few days to a few months. For
instance, in May, 1813, two companies of the 1O4th Regiment, fresh from
their winter march from New Brunswick, were stationed at Coteau du Lac
while the rest of the regiment continued on to Kingston. And four days
later, on the seventh of May, the grenadier company of the 100th Regiment

~

was ordered there.l‘ Bolstering the transient regulars were detachments
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of militia which were ordered into garrison when a threat appeared on

the river.

For most of 1813, frequent states of alarm brought Coteau du Lac
into its most direct contact with the war. In February, for instance,
when Captain Benjamin Forsyth crossed the ice and raided Gananoque and
Elizabethtown, a general alarm was sent up and down the river and a
convoy of sleighs was stopped at Coteau du Lac. "I have though it prudent,
wrote De Rottenburg in his report of the raid, "to stop at Coteau du Lac
a transport of LO sleighs with ordnance and naval stores and the five
twelve pounders for Prescott until a sufficient force can be spared from
the Glengarry and Cornwall militia to protect it .... I shall also
reinforce Coteau du Lac with the Vaudreuil Division of Sedentary Militia."13
The incidents were frequent reminders of the war conducted in the upper
border regions, and the steady stream of troops and supplies moving by
the post indicated the magnitude of the struggle.ll+ In the fall of 1813,

however, the war was brought much closer to the fort.

Ineffective leadership and planning on the part of the American
military leaders had made the war a series of skirmishes and raids; little
had been accomplished by the summer of 1813 toward achieving their avowed
intention of conquering Canada. Late in 1813, however, American strategy
began to take decisive steps in a new direction which directly affected
the British position at Coteau du Lac. In August, the new American
Secretary of War, John Armstrong, concluded that only an attack on
Kingston and ultimately on Montreal would bring control of the upper

British province and eventually of the whole of Canada. Two forces would

be used: Major General James Wilkinson would collect a large force in



43

Sacket's Harbour and travel by bateau down the St. Lawrence toward
Montreal; another under Major General Wade Hampton would march north from

Lake Champlain, The two would converge for the attack on Montreal.

The British command took steps to offset the American movements.
News of the concentration of the American forces at Sacket's Harbour
reached Major General De Rottenburg, the commander of the forces in Upper
Canada, by way of American deserters., He immediately established his own
headquarters in Kingston, which was reinforced. In Lower Canada, Prevost

awaited the approach of Hampton from the south.

In the early part of October, Prevost was uncertain of Wilkinson's
intentions; in fact the American command itself had not yet determined
whether Kingston or Montreal should be the primary objective. As a
precaution Prevost took steps to establish a position on the lower St.
Lavrence where a defence of the river route could be made in the event
that Wilkinson bypassed Kingston and Prescott. On 8 October he issued a
general order setting up his second line of defence in which Coteau du

15 Both channels of the river at

Lac was selected for special attention.
Coteau du Lac would be defended. The Caughnawaga Indians and Lieutenant
Boucherville's battalion would reinforce Colonel Dechambault in the
defence of the Beauharnois channel. The channel adjacent to the fort

would be defended by Colonel Hercules Scott who had already been appointed
commander of the fort with a garrison made up of a detachment of the
103rd, Scott's regiment. Both Scott and Colonel Dechambault were "directed
to oppose every possible resistance to the Enemy'!s passing their respec-

tive posts." If the enemy should succeed in turning their defences they

would follow to reinforce Montreal.
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The planning for the American campaign was marked by inefficiency
and bungling, Hampton, on very poor personal relations with Wilkinson,
was a most reluctant participant; Wilkinson, racked with fever and
cormanding little respect from his men, tarried ir Sacket®s Harbour as
he collected troops for his eventual descent of the river. ~inally on
the night of 17 October, lilkinsonts force embarked in bateaux and sailed
from Sacket’s Harbour with lMontreal as its objective. Tossed about by
gale~force winds and snowstoriais, the flotilia remained in the Thousand
Islands until 5 November. Wilkinson, his communications cut off, had no
way of hearing of Hampton's repulse at Chateauguay o:n 26 Cctober and his
subsequent decision to retire to American territory. Not realizing that

he was now alone, Wilkinson continued slowly downstream,

As soon as it became apparent that Kingston was not ilkinsonfs
objective, De Rottenburg despatched detachments of the 49th and 89th
regiments under Lieutenant Colcnel Joseph W. Morrison in pursuit; a
flotilla of gunboats under Captain William Howe Mulcaster provided support.
Wilkinson passed Prescott on the night of 8 November and Morrison, quickly
closing the gap between the two armies, arrived there the following day.
After collecting reinforcements at Fort iellington, he continued down the
river. On the morning of 11 November he engaged and defeated the rear
guard of the American army under Brigadier General John Parke Boyd in the

Battle of Crysler's Farm,

In the meantime work had continued on the bolstering of the defences
at Coteau du Lac. In the early part of October, Scott had apparently

vwritten asking for additional guns and men. The Adjutant General refused
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his request on the grounds that the post was already 'better provided &
more capable of defence than almost any part of this extensive frontier,!
and demands from other quarters made further aid impossible. Scott was

to resist any attempt by the enemy to force passage and in the event that
Wilkinson should pass, he should follow and attempt to throw himself into
M’ontreal.l6 The local militia was to be allowed to attend to its farms
and to be called out only in the event of emergency. As Wilkinson
approached, however, Coteau du lLac was reinforced., Captain Jackson was
sent with a detachment of Royal Artillery to relieve the Montreal
Volunteers there on 1 November,-! and on the third of that month a

detachment of Canadian Fencibles was ordered to march to Coteau du Lac.18

As Wilkinson floundered through the Thousand Islands in the early
part of November, several troop movements were made to prepare for his
arrivél. Scott was ordered to advance to Cornwall, leaving Coteau du Lac
with a "sufficient Garrison of the Marine Battalion."? Within a week,
however, as Wilkinson proceeded down the river, it became evident that
Montreal was his objective and the activity was feverish as the force at
Coteau du Lac awaited his approach. With Kingston bypassed and Wilkinsont's
safe passage by the guns of Fort Wellington in Prescott, there remained

only Coteau du Lac before the weak defences of Montreal.

By 11 November, Scott had returned to Coteau du Lac. Apparently
unaware of the battle then being fought upstream at Cryslerts Farm, he
outlined his preparations for defence. The whole of the Glengarry militia
was expected by 2 otclock the next day. He requested permission to move

the two 24-pounders from the Cedars for "if the enemy is able to pass our
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position at the Coteau, it is not to be supposed that two twenty-four
pounders remaining at the Cedars will stop their passage. They will
certainly land below Coteau du Lac and take those guns."20 With a great
deal of bravado, Scott claimed that his force would have no trouble
stopping the Americans if they should reach that point in their descent,
and if they should pass they would be destroyed in the pincer of his
force and that at Montreal.”l A flotilla was being gathered at Coteau
du Lac and the south chan~el was blocked so the enemy would have to pass
the guns of the fort on their way to Montreal.22 Probably rather
reluctantly, Scott acknowledged receipt of the letter appointing 'Major
General Riall to this command," recognition of the importance given to
Cotecau du Lac for stopping the enemy's progress. Scott was to proceed

with his plans for defence until Riall's arrival and then return tc the

cormand of his detachment of 350 men.

Troops continued to congregate at Coteau du Lac as Wilkinson's
advance guard under Brigadier General Jacob Brown approached Cornwall.
Lieutenant Colonel James Dennis sent his stores and provisions from
Cornwall to the fort and retreated to McMartints Mills, and then Coteau
du Lac after the action at Crysler's Farm.?3 The fort became the rallying
point for the British forces. The extensive preparations proved to be of

no avail, however.

After the engagement at Crysler's Farm, the British comnand was at
a loss as to the intentions of Major General Wilkinson. The battle should
have offered at most a minor setback to the enemy command; only a portion

of Wilkinson's force had actually been engaged. The British could be
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excused for thinking that Wilkinson, after a slight pause, would continue
down the river. On the night of 12 November, the day after the battle,

the American force crossed the river to St. Regis. As far as British
intelligence could determine, Wilkinson was still planning to continue

to Montreal. Morrison's land force and Mulcastert's flotilla would continue
their watchdog function, moving parallel to the American army as far as
Coteau du Lac where a stand would be made.zh When Prevost reported the
victory at Crysler's Farm to Bathurst on 15 November, he was still
uncertain as to Wilkinsonts plans, but in the event that the latter

continued his invasion he would be blocked at Coteau du Lac.

But the state of the weather is becoming so highly unfavorable
to combined operations that unless Genl. Wilkinson succeeds in

a very few days in forcing the position I have caused to be
occupied at the Rapids of the Coteau du Lac & on the Beauharnois
Channel, which I have no reason to expect he will do or that he
can make his way into the Province by either of the other routes
I have mentioned which I think equally improbable, the American
Army must soon be compelled by the severity of the season to go
into Winter Quarters & to abandon all thoughts of the Conquest

of Canada for this Campaign.25

In fact, there was no great cause for concern, although Prevost had
no way of knowing this at the time. After crossing to St. Regis,
Wilkinson had received word from Wade Hampton that he had no intention of
combining with him, Using Hampton's refusal to join him as an excuse,

Wilkinson called off the campaign and went into winter quarters at French
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Mills on the Salmon River., There is some indication that the British
force gathering at Coteau du Lac had influenced the decision. A deserter
from the American army testified that no apprehension was felt in the
American camp until the army reached Cornwall "when the strength of the
Coteau became a subject of alarm., He heard some officers say that many
of them would smell hell' in passing Coteau du Lac.26 Benson Lossing
noted that news of the concentration of a considerable British force at

Coteau du Lac preceded the rmove to the Salmon River.27

As scon as it became apparent that the American force had settled
down in winter quarters at Irench Mills, the British position at Cornwall
was reinforced to keep a careful watch on the activity in the American
camp. Most of the troops at Coteau du Lac were moved to other locations.
Major General Riall was ordered to proceed to Kingston and place himself
under the 'orders of Major General de Rottenburg as soon as the necessary
arrangements are made for carrying into effect the distribution of the
troops assembled at Coteau du La.c."28 Three corpanies of the 5th Battalion
embodied militia together with the detachment of the 103rd were to garrison
the post over the winter. Mulcastert's gunboats were left therec in charge

of an officer and a few men.29

The American camp was kept under close surveillance over the winter.
Scott, at Coteau du Lac, sensing that the American soldiers would be
discouraged by the badly run campaign and annoyed that they were not
receiving their regular pay, suggested that the British government
encourage desertion by offering to pay the arrears of any American

soldiers. Any American deserters would not be made to fight against their
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own country-men. Scott was given only cautious approval. He was allowed
to proceed only on the understanding that '"this will be considered as an
offer which you as an Officer Commanding an outpost feels justified in

30

making" rather than an official government policy. The success of his

project is not known.

Scott did have one last moment of tarnished glory before he left his
command. Farly in March, orders were given for the detachment of the
103rd to march to Kingston. It was to be relieved by a detachment of the
89th Regiment.31 Just before Scott moved out, however, Wilkinson began
to evacuate his winter quarters and to shift to Plattsburg. Upon hearing
of the enemy's movement, Scott led detachments of the 103rd and 89th to
the Salmon River and followed the American army in its retreat to within
a few miles of Plattsburg. Although about 100 sleigh loads of American
provisions and stores were captured, their remaining blockhouses, barracks
and boats destroyed, and the enemy harried in his retreat, the expedition
was marred by the loss through desertion of 90 men, mainly from Scott's

32

103rd regiment. Nevertheless, the expedition underlined with an air of
finality the failure of Wilkinson's invasion and the Americans abandoned

all pretense of a renewal of the march in the spring.

Although Wilkinson's slow descent of the St, Lawrence had disrupted
travel on the St. Lawrence, communications were restored to near normal
conditions after he went into winter quarters, and Coteau du Lac reassumed
its importance in the forwarding of supplies. By far the greatest threat
to transportation occurred on the Great Lakes, especially Lake Ontario,

where James Yeo, the British commodore of the fleet, was waging a
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shipbuilding race with the American commodore, Isaac Chauncey, for control
of the lake. The stakes were high; control of Lake Erie had been lost in
the fall of 1813 and consequently the British were forced to fall back
from Detroit. A similar loss of Lake Ontario would mean that the whole

of the upper country would have to be abandoned.

Probably because the ship-building facilities at Kingston were
already strained to capacity, Yeo proposed that six gunboats be construc-
ted at Coteau du Lac. Mulcaster's fleet had been left there in the fall
of 1813; in February, Captain Daniel Pring was sent to superintend them,33
Facilities existed at the post for repairing boats and these could be
converted for boat building. By January, two gunboats had been laid down
and were in progress using shipwrights originally intended for Kingston.Bh
But in February, when four gunboats were under construction at the post,
the work was discontinued so the shipwrights could be sent to Kingston
to assist in the major ship construction in Yeo's race for control of
Lake Ontario., Despite the setback, some or all of the gunboats were
completed by June when they were handed over to seamen passing through

35

Coteau du Lac on their way to Kingston.

The race for control of Lake Ontario placed additional strains on
the already hard-pressed transportation system. Yeo was utterly dependent
upon the supply line for his shipbuilding, and his predicament reflected
the importance of the line of supply during the whole of the war. Every
fitting, piece of equipment and armament used in the construction of his
vessels and all the seamen employed to man them had to move up the St.

Lawrence. In at least one case, the precut members of an entire vessel
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were wrested over the long and difficult route. The close connection
between supply and control of the lakes was apparent to Prevost who
wrote to Yeo, '"The most incipient exertions of every Depart. concerned
with the transport service are making to forward the articles which you
have required for the equipment and armament of the new ship & I most
sincerely hope our endeavours to ensure to your squadron a decided

superiority will be successful."36

The transportation line was a long one, stretching all the way from
the ports of England to Quebec and then to the interior. All the supplies
of war had to be carried the full length of the route. The long line of
supply placed the British command at a distinct disadvantage. American
settlements on the lakes were connected directly with the industrial
centres of New England and Pennsylvania by a route which was relatively
protected from attack. In contrast, the St. Lawrence lay exposed along
most of its length. That Yeo was able to maintain control of Lake Ontario
until the end of the war could be attributed to the successful operation
of the St, Lawrence line of supply as much as to the prowess of his lake
captains. And the same could be said of the conduct of the entire war,
This was a battle of logistics as much as it was one of arms., Coteau du
Lac and the other positions on the St. Lawrence played as important a

part in the war as the beleaguered posts of the Niagara frontier.

The activity at the post grew more intense as the war drew to a close.
The garrisons at the fort changed frequently as more and more regiments
arrived from England fresh from the European war. It became common for

companies of the regiments to be stationed a short time at Coteau du Lac
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on their way to the Niagara front or other forts in the interior. In the
meantime, construction of the fort moved ahead quickly and was nearing

completion.

The war, for all intents and purposes, ended 1 August 181),, and the
conversion of the country to a peacetime operation began. Work started
almost immediately on the canal at Coteau to enlarge it and to better

equip it to handle the peacetime flow of commerce.
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Post-War Period

The years after the war saw both the zenith and demise of the canal and
fort at Coteau du Lac. The number of private bateaux and Durham boats
passing through the canal was the largest in the early 1820s; and yet,
there were indications that the canal had reached the limit of its
votential., Increasing prosperity brought a demand for better facilities
along the river, a demand for more extensive improvements than could be
offered by the existing St. Lawrence canals, At the same time the post-
war years brought a rapid decline in the defensive value of the position

at Coteau du Lac.

By 1815, the fortifications proposed early in 1813 had been comple-
ted. The extensive earthworks, the new buildings and facilities and
numerous gun emplacements presented an impressive defence; unfortunately
they were finished only as the war ended, an expensive tribute to the
patience of the British purse. The war was over. The easing out of the
wartime establishment began immediately as the regulars were recalled to
England and the militia returned to their homes and to peacetime
production. The river reverted to civilian use; only the fort remained
as a reminder of the recent military activity and to provide a modicum
of defence. Within two years the garrison was reduced to "about half a

dozen of soldiers.ml By 1820 all the guns were dismounted.

The new orientation was reflected in a shift in activity at Coteau

du Lac. In 1815, the Royal Engineers twrned from the construction of the
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fort to "the renewal of the canal & locks.'"3? The heavy demands of
wartime supply had revealed the inadequacies of the existing canal, and
with the end of the war spending priorities could be revised to take in
navigational improvements. The repairs at Coteau du Lac and the Cedars
included a widening of the canals to accommodate 'barges" which had been
adopted by the merchants in their never-ending search for increased
returns.h The work was still not completed in the spring of 1816, and
the Royal Staff Corps relieved the engineers in early summer to finish

the project.5

The nature of the civilian traffic on the river was much the same as
it had been before the war, although the growth in numbers and in maturity
of the settlements increased the quantity of goods passing through the
canal. There was a greater demand for imported goods as the new society
became more specialized and took on fresh appetites. Montreal continued
to serve as the main entrepét where the merchants of the interior gathered
or dealt through agents to obtain European merchandise, although some
Upper Canadian merchants began to import directly from England. GQuebec
and Montreal were also the clearing-houses for the raw products such as
wheat and timber sent down from the upper province for export. Both

imported goods and raw materials were shipped on the St. Lawrence.6

The post-war years also brought an influx of immigrants, many of
whon travelled west by way of the St. Lawrence. Their journey was not a
comfortable one, a preparation perhaps for the struggle which awaited
them in the backwoods of Upper Canada.’ One such traveller, E. A. Talbot,
wrote at length of the difficulties of a journey by Durham boat from

Montreal to Kingston in 1814,
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We were from the 18th of August to the 1lst of September in
accomplishing this voyage of only 120 miles, I think I may say,
without any danger of hyperbole, that, during this short period,
eacl: of us encountered greater difficulties, endured more
privations, and submitted to stronger proofs of our fortitude,
than had been our lot in all the preceding years of our lives.,
We were obliged by day, in consequence of the great weight of
our luggage, to assist the sailors in towing the boat up the
rapids, often up to our arm-pits in the water; and, by night,

to rest our enervated and shivering limbs on the inhospitable

shore of this river of cataracts.8

Talbot wrote in greater detail of the whole system of communication from

Montreal to Kingston.

I returned to Montreal seven days after my departure from it,
and embarked at La Chine, with my father and his settlers, on

the 18th day of August, twenty days after our arrival in Quebec.

Cn account of the shallows immediately below this village,
goods and passengers intended for a higher destination up the

river, are conveyed by land from lontreal ....

Owing to the rapidity of the St. Lawrence, immediately
above Montreal, ship-navigation terminates at that city. Such
is the vehenence of the current, in various places, that it is
totally impossible to ascend the river in vessels of ordinary

construction. Batteaux, or flat-bottomed boats, narrow at bow
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and stern, and made of pine boards, have been found much
better adapted to the river than any others. These boats are
about forty feet long, and six across the centre, and are
navigated by four men and a pilot. Each boat carries about

five tons, and is provided with a small mast and sails, - six
setting-poles abtout nine feet long, shod at their lower
extremities with iron, which terminates in a sharp point, - an
anchor, - and the necessary cooking epparatus. In these boats,
all the merchandize destined for Upper Canada is conveyed; and,
fitted out in this style, they depart from La Chine, four or
five of them generally forming one party. They quickly arrive
in Lake St. Louis, which is formed by the junction of the
Ottawais, or Grand River, with the St. Lawrence. If the wind
happens to blow favourably when they are passing through this
Lake, they haul up their sails until they arrive at the Cascades,

which are about thirty miles from Montreal.

At the Cascades a short canal has been cut and locks formed
by Govermasnt, through which the vessels pass, till they attain
the head of these rapids, after which they proceed without
departing from the river before they arrive at the Cedars,
where again by means of other locks, they ascend the most
difficult part of the rapids. The current between the Cascades
ancd the Cedars is so very impetuous, that the boat-men are
obliged to have recourse to their setting-poles, which they fix

in the bed of the river; and by the pressure of each man upon
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his own instrument, they propel the boats with astonishing
celerity. These exertions, though fatiguing in the extreme,
they are often obliged to continue for several hours without
intermission; and, not unfrequently even their best endeavours
in this way prove abortive., When this is the case, they make a
rope fast to the bow of the boat; and, leaving only the pilot
on board, they plunge into the water and tow her by main strength
up the foaming cataracts. This is the manner in which they
perform the arduous passage, which, though only 120 miles, they
seldom accomplish in less than ten days. How the men who are
employed in this difficult navigation exist without ruining
their constitutions, is a mystery which I am utterly unable to
explain, They are compelled, almost every hour, when actually
melting with heat and fainting through fatigue, to jump into
the water, frequently up to their arm-pits, and to remain in

it towing the boats, until they are completely chilled, They
then have recourse to the aid of ardent spirits, of which on
all occasions they freely partake, and, in a few minutes, are
once more bathed in perspiration. The principal rapids between
Montreal and Prescott, arec the Cedars and the Cascades already
mentioned, the Coteau du Lac, and the Long Sault, thec latter of
which are about nine miles in extent; and, though they are seldom
ascended in less than a day, boats have been known to descend

through their whole length in fifteen minutes.

While about 140 of the settlers took their passage from La

Chine in what the Canadians call *'Durham-boats,' my father and
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his family, with the remainder of the settlers, embarked in a
vessel of the same description. The accommodations whicﬁ this
boat afforded was so poor, that our situation, during the
thirteen days of our voyage from La Chine to Prescott, was in
reality tbelow the reach of envy'. To make room for my mother
and the children, in the wretched little hole of a cabin, my
brother and I were frequently obliged to sleep on the shore in

9

the open air.

There was scarcely a traveller who did not mention the hardships suffered
on the journey inland. Their complaints were added to those of the mer-
chants who were fast becoming dissatisfied with the existing St. Lawrence

system,

The canal at Coteau-du-Lac and others along the St. Lawrence offered
a solution to the problem of river navigation in the 18th century; by the
1820s the canals were outdated, During the 18th century, the bateau and
Durham boat had satisfied the demands placed upon the St. Lawrence system,
but with the increase in trade and travel in the years following the War
of 1812, they were no longer adequate. Increasing pressure built up at
both ends of the upper St. Lawrence emphasizing the inadequacies of the

existing canals. In 1809 The Accommodation, John Molson's first steamboat,

linked Montreal and Quebec, and by 1821 half a dozen steamboats were
making the run. On the lower Great Lakes a growing fleet of schooners was
expanded by the addition of steamboats shortly after the war.lo The
improvements on the Great Lakes and lower St. Lawrence brought a clamour

for similar improvements on the upper parts of the river to allow

continuous navigation by the larger vessels.,
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The weaknesses of the existing St. Lawrence route became all the
more apparent in comparison with the competing Hudson River system, its
traditional rival in the exploitation of the central interior. The
merchants of the St. Lawrence aspired to control not only the trade and
commerce of Upper Canada but also that of the American settlements
bordering the Great Lakes basin. They hoped, by exploiting a preference
for colonial goods in British markets and a more direct route to the
seaboard, to obtain the marketing trade of the American north. For this
they required a more efficient transportation system than that offered
by their American counterparts. They watched with growing apprehension
the proposal and subsequent construction of the Erie Canal which would
connect Lake Erie, Lake Ontario and Lake Champlain with the Hudson River
and New York. By 1825 it was completed, and in the first year of opera-
tion it proved that the fears of the Canadian merchants were well founded.
Over 13,000 boats and rafts passed over the Erie Canal that year, giving
New York the handling trade coveted by Mbntreal.ll The Canadian merchants

were now threatened in their own exclusive preserve.

The challenge was not ignored by the Canadian merchants, In 1821,
construction of the Lachine Canal began, giving expression to an idea
which had lingered since the beginning of the 18th century. Because of
the Lachine rapids, effective navigation of the upper St. Lawrence could
only cormence at the western end of Montreal Island. All goods for the
interior had to be carried by land from Montreal to the point of embarka-
tion. After 1825 when the canal was completed, the loaded Durham boats

and bateaux could make a direct connection with Atlantic transports. In
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Upper Canada William Hamilton Merritt pressed for the construction of
the Velland Canal to link Lakes Erie and Ontario. Begun in 1825, the

canal carried its first vessel in 1829,

But these were improvements of the outer reaches of the system. The
main bottleneck continued to be the upper St. Lawrence between Lake St.
Louis and Lake Ontario. It was a neglected area located between the more
settled parts of the upper and lower provinces. Neither was able or
willing to undertake the development alone, and yet any effort at a
cooperative undertaking failed to pass the planning stages. In 1819, a
joint report of the assemblies of Upper and Lower Canada recommended a
uniform system of canals for the St. Lawrence with a minimum width of 28
feet and depth of 4 feet, The report was shelved as Lower Canada became
involved in the construction of the Lachine Canal. An attempt was made
to combine the financial strength of the two provinces in 1821-22 with
the introduction of the Union Bill which carried with it the promise of
improved and cheaper transport. But it, too, was shelved, and with it

the possibility of improvement by the colonies themselves.

The British government, for its part, refused to undertake any
massive expenditure on the St. Lawrence. The canals at Coteau du Lac and
other ravids on the St. Lawrence had been constructed as military projects,
although they were used by merchants and conveyers upon payment of tolls.
The returns were allocated to the financing of annual repairs. By the
1820s these had become significant as the canals grew older and it became
apparent that extensive expenditure would be necessary to bring them up

to date. The expensive outlay to convert the system for use by barges or
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steamboats would not be tolerated by a British public coming under the

influence of laissez faire doctrines.

At Coteau-du-Lac significant repairs were carried out annually and
especially in 1825-26, but by the end of the 1820s, the new attitude
could be seen in the approach of the British government. Finally, the
superintendent of canals, opposed an improvement proposed by the overseer

of the canals at Coteau du Lac because

the canals and Locks in question are now in a dilapidated state
and must soon undergo a very efficient repair -- would it not
therefore be an useless expenditure to be improving upon old
works, making new Gates, bracing them from the sides and making
flying or draw bridges, when perhaps in a short time it might

be considered necessary to facilitate the General Commerce and
intercourse of these colonies to increase the size of the canals
in accordance with other improvements which might take place upon

the navigation of the St. Lawrence , -2

Finlay himself was held partially responsible for the evident failure
of the returns from the canals to meet the rising costs of maintenance, a
fact which he attempted to counter unsuccessfully by increasing the tolls
on canals which were already suffering from a decrease in traffic., An
0old man, he had his office in Lachine where formerly the bateaux and
Durham boats left for the interior., With the construction of the Lachine
Canal it was inconvenient for the conveyers to purchase toll tickets

there and yet he refused to move, His intransigence brought a transfer
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of the St. Lawrence canals to the Commissary Department in 1828.

Routh, the Commissary General, had been extremely critical of Finlay's
conduct as superintendent of canals and jumnped into his new responsi-
bility with enthusiasm: the canals would be open on Sunday; tolls would
drop to the pre-1827 level, and tickets would be issued at the commissary
office in Montreal. These reforms and others were proposed to make use of
the canals easier and operation more efficient.!®> But a change in
organization alone could not overcome the physical decline of the canals

and their inability to meet contemporary needs.

In 1831 the whole problem came to the fore, Captain R. S. Piper,
C. R. E., Montreal District, an engineer sent to inspect the canals,
reported that they were in a state of "extreme dilapidation and Decay."

He complained that the men in charge showed negligence

not only in opening and shutting the gates, but in permitting
boats to be forced through in a very negligent manner when too
large to be freely admitted by the use of extreme force, and in
some instances having recourse to the assistance of Horses, when
the strength of men has been unavailing! -- ''lie Bows of Boats

in many instances have been obliged to be cut away an inch on
either side to admit of their being hauled through, and then
only I can assert, without the possibility of contradiction,

14

with extraordinary efforts.

He recommended that the size of the boats be restricted to 12 feet 3
inches, one inch less than the minimum width of the canal at Coteau du

Lac. One month later, Piper wrote a more realistic assessment which
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placed the blame on the size of the canals rather than the merchants

and their boats. The canals had been constructed chiefly for bateaux,

but the trade has so encreased and is so encreasing that they
are quite unequal under their present construction to meet the
commercial intercourse between the two Provinces. They only
admit one Durham boat at a time and boats of a beam wider than

12 ft. 3 in. cannot pass at all.15

Piper suggested that the colony and not the British government should
build a more adequate canal; however, he did submit estimates for a new
canal to parallel the old one at Coteau du Lac to increase the capacity.16
Routh suggested that the existing canals be handed over to the governments
of Upper and Lower Canada and that they be responsible for bringing them
up to date. Viscount Goderich at the Colonial Office was "certainly not
prepared to recommend to the treasury, the expenditure" necessary to
improve the cenals but was hesitant about presenting the canals to the
colonial governments.17 In the meantime, Routh was prepared to move

ahead with repairs on the canals, but recommended that expenditure should

be limited as there were various colonial projects in the offing.18

The reluctance of the British government to commit funds to the
improvement of the St. Lawrence reflected a shift in interest to the
Ottawa=-Rideau river route which had been taken gradually after the War
of 1812, One of the lessons of the war had been the vulnerability of the
St. Lawrence line of supply to attack from the south. If the British
government expended extensive amounts of money on public works, it

preferred to invest in a project which would be safe and protected from
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attack. The first plans for the exploitation of the Ottawa-Rideau route
had been set out as early as the War of 1812, Between then and 1827, when
construction of the Rideau Canal actually began, a number of surveys and
plans were submitted to the British government. It was clear from the
beginning that such a work was military in design and function; only
after a great deal of persuasion by Colonel John By, the canal's builder,
were the locks increased to a size which would be useful commercially.
The Rideau Canal, officially opened in 1832, together with the Ottawa
canals at Grenville and Carillon, provided an alternate route from

Montreal to Kingston.19

The new canals were never popular with the merchants tirading betwe~n
Upper and Lower Canada. The Rideau route was longer and not as direct.
It passed through relatively uninhabited areas of the country:; and control
of the shipping on the canal passed into the hands of one firm which
raised the rates to almost prohibitive levels, Nevertheless, a circular
transport system did develop with merchants shipping goods from Montreal
to the markets of the upper province by way of the Ottawa and Rideau
canals to Kingston, and returning on the St. Lawrence, shooting the

rapids on their way downstream.zo

But the Rideau Canal remained primarily a military installation,
providing a protected route to the interior in the event of another war
with the United States. The use of the system by the merchants was looked
upon as a temporary expedient until the St. Lawrence could be made
navigable. One thing was certain, however; the expense of the Ottawa-

Rideau systeri —— over £1,000,000 —— made the British Parliament hesitant
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to become involved in any further colonial projects. In fact, it dried
up an important source of funds and forced the colonies to lovk inward

for development finances.

Agitatiorn continued for the improvement of the St. Lawrence route
as "a mania for canalling seemed to possess the people."<l Canals were
looked upon as the magic panacea which would pull the Canadas out of the
financial deldruis. Periodic reports were submitted to the legislatures
proposing plans for the improvement of the river but usually a shortage
of funds prevented action. Although construction of the Cornwall Canal
was begun by the upper province in 1834, it was not completed until altesr
the union. The provinces were too strapped financially to undertake
improvements individually, and political problems prevented their working
together. Lffective development of the St. Lawrence would have to await
the union of the two Canadas; and in fact, the requirements of development

contributed to their union.

In the mesantime, users o the St. Lawrence began to work around its
weaknesses. Steamboals carried travellers through Lake St. Louis to the
riouth of the canal at the Cascades. Passengers then travelled by stage
the 16 miles to Coteau Landing where another steamboat was waiting at the
wharf to carry them farther.22 Freight was carried by land around the
river obstacles in the same way. Boats could run the rapids on the trip
downstream. The canal at Coteau du Lac was thus bypassed, althougnh scmc
freight and passengers continued to take the less luxurious passage by

Durharm boat and bateau upstream through the canals.
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The importance of Coteau du Lac as a military position was also on
the decline, if not undermined completely. As early as 1825, ten years
after the fort had been constructed, it was dismissed as useless by a
commission inspecting the military positions in Canada. The fort was
described as a "perfect ruin® which would cost a '"very considerable sum
to be put in order." With so many essential positions requiring defence
in British North America it was felt that "interests of a doubtful or
secondary nature must be sacrificed,"3 If it were felt necessary to
defend the passage between Lake St. Francis and Lake St. Louis, the
height above Split Rock would be a better choice than Coteau du Lac,

against which the commission had more'specific objections.

Our military objections to Fért Coteau-du-Lac are in the first
instance, the circumstance of the Lock being in the middle of
the Fort, by which means Boatmen and others having necessarily
access at all hours become too well acquainted with the works
and the Garrison, the latter are in consequence liable to be
seduced or surprized. In the second place a Work at Split Rock
being further removed from the navigable part of the Waters

would require more time and cxertions to be taken.

The construction of the Rideau Canal further undermined the significance
of Coteau du Lac. The British authorities now depended upon the Rideau
route for the transport of supplies in the event of war. In effect, the
defence of the St. Lawrence would no longer be considered of utmost

importance in any defensive strategy.
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By the 1830s the principal duties of the small garrison at Coteau
du Lac, consisting of one corporal or lance corporal and three privates,
were "to assist the officers of His Majesty's customs in the prevention
of smuggling and secondly guarding the locks, public stores and buildings
at this station."<4 1In 1835, a further indication of the decline was
given when it was decided that "the duties at Coteau du Lac are not of
sufficient importance for the employment of a Barracks Master."?5 The
duties were assumed by Barracks Sergeant Bell, who was ordered to proceed

to Coteau du Lac in July.26

The 1830s were years of inadequacy for the post at Coteau du Lac.
As a military position, the fort had no important function in official
British strategy. The canal, like all the military canals on the St.
Lawrence, was unable to satisfy the needs of the growing commercial
commnity. The British government was unwilling to expend the funds
necessary to modernize the transportation system and the colonies were
unequal to the task on their own, Even such projects as were undertaken
by the individual governments of Upper and Lower Canada met increasing
criticism in the two colonies. Groups had grown up which vocally
criticised the vast expenditure of funds on projects which they felt
were of benefit to only a small segment of the population. Throughout

the 1830s, discontent grew in the two provinces until 1837-38 when it

burst into open uprising.
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The Rebellion: A Military Interlude

In the 1830s, the two Canadas found themselves swept slowly, yet
undeniably, toward crisis. The pattern was similar in each province as
the popular arm of government, the assembly, was pitted against the
executive, the council and the governor. The issues were many, having
political, social and economic overtones, but in each case the same point
was reached: the point where frustration in the achievement of aims led
to open and armed insurrection against the established authority. In
November and December of 1837, the dissidents turned out in both Upper

and Lower Canada to battle for a new order.

In Upper Qanada the uprising was easily quelled in a bizarre affair
on Yonge Street. In Lower Canada, the fighting was also short-lived, but
particularly bloody and unfortunate in character., Riots in Montreal in
early November were followed by stringent measures restricting assembly
and an unsuccessful effort to arrest the leaders of the agitation.
Engagements later in November at St. Charles and St. Denis, the latter a
victory for the Patriots, were briskly fought. On 1 December, St. Denis
was attacked again and this time taken and burned. The fighting was bitter
and of a much more serious nature than the comic opera efforts to the

west, and the emotional reactions were much more intense and longer lasting.

The area immediately west of Montreal remained relatively quiet,
although a small incident at Beauharnois raised questions concerning the

loyalties of the surrounding district. The fort at Coteau du Lac nearby,
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although occupied, had only a caretaker garrison of three or four men
under Captain Cox, late of the 37th Regiment. Cox apparently asked for
authority on 27 November to recruit volunteers to add to his forces.

His authority '"to raise a company of fifty volunteers for the protection
of the Fort at Coteau du Lac & assist in keeping open the communication

between Upper and Lower Provinces" was communicated 2 December.l

The enthusiastic loyal forces appear to have anticipated the granting
of authority. Mr, John Simpson, a local magistrate and the collector of
customs at Coteau du Lac, brought a group of volunteers to the fort late
in November. One of his first acts was to take 'it upon himself to give
orders for the issue of rations to a number of men collected in the fort
for its defence."™ This he followed with the seizure of 100 barrels of
flour from a passing barge. The flour was the equivalent to the supply of
150 men for 5 months, while there were only 3 persons at Coteau du Lac
entitled to rations.3 Simpson also ordered that the guns of the fort be
thrown into the river, apparsntly so they would not fall into the hands

of "a rebel party which was organizing in that neighbourhood."h

Simpsont's enthusiasm was not fully appreciated by the Montreal
command, On the same day that they sent authorization for Cox to raise a
company of volunteers, they wrote to Simpson giving him a mild reprimand
for his failure to follow proper channels and to work through authorigzed
persons in his seizure of the flour.”? Two days later, however, the
governor's secretary sent an official letter of appreciation to Simpson
thanking him for the "great zeal & activity" he had shown in collecting

and paying the volunteers.6 At the same time he let Simpson know that
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the situation was now well in hand under Captain Cox and the corps from
Cornwall, and implied that his services were no longer required in the

defence of the fort.

By the early part of December, the Honourable P. Vankoughnet was the
officer commanding at Coteau du Lac. He was commended for the “prompt
marner' in which he had gathered volunteers, probably from the Cornwall
area. Arrangements were being made to ship ammunition for the ordnance
of the fort.! The increased concern was prompted-by the inhabitants of
the St. Hustache area who threatened to launch an attack against the fort.
Although the uprising at St. Tustache was suppressed 14 December, the
concern for Coteau-du-Lac continued. On the nineteenth, word was sent by
way of Captain Phillpots, R. L., that 250 stand of arms, accoutrements

and ammunition would be delivered shortly 8

ard Phillpots was avpparently
directed to make recommendations for the strengthening of the fort. Upon
his arrival he ordered that the dilapidated octagonal blockhouse on the

point be taken down "to prevent the enemy msking a lodgement behind it in

their intended attack on the fort."? He probably made other recommenda-

tions for the fort's protection.

To further strengthen the position, Captain George Bell, Royal
Regiment, was appointed cormandant of the fort on 3 January. When Bell
arrived at Coteau du Lac on the night of 4 January, he was extremely
critical of the fort, which he found "in a most defenceless state,'" and

the condition of the volunteers.

I inspected the volunteers and find they are deficient of Clothes

& shoes, as well as being quite ignorant of any sort of military
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discipline; their officers and non-com officers being incapable
of instructing them, I would be glad if you would send e a
good non-com officer of the Royals as a drill serjecant. The
men are well cisposed & I have no doubt but that I will have
them an efficient body in a short time —- they have not yet

had any pay which they complain of.lo

By discreet ingquiry, Bell found the country surrounding the fort "quite
tranquil® and the people "well disposed.! Although no threat was evident,
the apparent absence of an immediate threat did not cause him to relax
his vigilance. He requested a drum or bugle to arouse his men in the

event of an alarm.

In his memoirs, Bell enlarged upon his own efforts in putting the

fort and garrison in order.

I found everything in the greatest disorder, irregularity,
confusion, and a total want of system; the Fort in the most
defenceless state, the men without the shadow of discipline,
eating up Government provisions, and just doing as they pleased.
I commenced to work immediately, and to reform abuses, got a
drill sergeant, whom I proiwwted to the rank of sergeant~major,
had regular parades and drills, when all officers were present,
and drilled in the ranks amongst the men; the guards were
regularly mounted, and sentries posted and relieved according
to the rule of the service; formed the men intc messes, and

instead of cooking at all hours during the day, appointed stated
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hours for breakfast and dinner; provided them with knives, forks,
plates, bowls, & c, and soon got order and regularity established.
Superintended the workmen employed by the engineer department in
putting the Fort in a state of defence, and in the course of a
month had a very respectable, orderly garrison, officers and

men well acquainted with their duties.ll

With his garrison placed in order, Bell began to recover the cannon and
shot from the river where they had been thrown by Simpson early in
December., Bell hired two local men to drill out the spikes and mounted

two of the cannon on platforms he had built.l?

Supplementing Bell's efforts, Captain Foster, R. E., visited the
site in the last half of January and made an estimate for putting the
"old fort at Coteau du Lac into a temporary state of Defence,' This
recommendation was approved and presumably put into effect.13 Most of
the suggested alterations were of a temporary nature to meet the passing

crisis.,

Bell remained at the fort over the winter and continued to recover
the cannon from the river. By the spring he had hauled out 14, including
those recovered in January, and had mounted them on platforms which he
had constructed from materials obtained in the surrounding woods.uF He
described the installation at Coteau du Lac as ''a place of great
importance, the rapids being in front, and all boats going up the St.

Lawrence having to pass through the canal locks in this fortress.™> He

was not as glowing in his description of his period of duty there. "I had
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a weary vinter of it; but it suited my taste, and gave me a brevit

majority. I won my spurs, and it made me joyful."16 Bell left in the

spring.,

While Bell was commandant of the fort, the gerrison consisted mainly
of militia, some of which had been embodied, 1In January, a company of the
Stormeont Militia under the general command of Colonel Vankoughnst was
stationed there under a Captain Empy. Bell appears to have been replaced
first by Major R. Anstrutler and then by Major L. Carmichael (Particular

17

Service). The garrison continued to be much the same.

Although rost of the serious fighting took place in November and
Decerber, 1837, the province of Lower Canada continued to be in a
"perpetual state of suspense and alarm.”18 Some Patriots had fled across
the border to the United States, from which they planned to return with a
victorious army. In February, they crossed on their way to attack Montreal,
but retreated upon encountering militia units. In November a more serious
threat developed, this time attracting 2,500 men to the rebel headquarters

19

at Napierville.

The renewal of rebel activity brought changes in the garrison at
Coteau du Lac. Early in October when Sir George Arthur, lieutenant-governor
of Upper Canada, inspected the various positions on the St. Lawrence, he

; ; N R :
suggested that Glengarries be stationed at the fort. His recommendation
was followed as the threat of invasion increased, and two companies of
. . . 21 .
Glengarries were sent dovwn under Captain Fraser. One week later when a

breach of the peace appeared to be imminent, Colborne wrote to the various
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commanders at Prescott, Cornwall and Coteau du Lac authorizing them to
raise as many volunteers as possible in their districts.2? Major i..
Carmichael, who was then cormandant of the fort, met an enthusiastic
response when Captain McCuaig brought ""fifty fine Highlanders' to the
fort and increased this number to 88 men when McCuaig was placed in
charge of the fort under Captain Cox.23 At Carmichael's request an
official Jctter was sent by the governor expressing the appreciation of
Her Majesty for the patriotic response of McCuaig and his nmer:. When @he
letter arrived and was read before licCuaig's detachment, it provoked even
grealer enthusiesm as 57 of the men agreed to serve through the winter
until 1 May.24 Captain Fraser's detachment of the Glengarries, bolstered
by Captair McCualg's highlanders, appears to have made up the garrison

over the remainder of the winter.

Through 1839, the original crisis atiiosphere of the rebellion
appears to have abated somewhat, but a garrison was still retained at
Coteau du Lac made up for the most part of the Glengarries. However,
Captain Cox, with his small detachment of regulars, also appears to have
continued to be stationed at the fort. The Glengarries came primarily
from Captain Fraserfs Regim.ent.25 Carmichael (now a colonel) was moved
back and forth along the St. Lawrence; in October he was at his former

26

command at Coteau du Lac. The same arrangement continued in 1840 when

there was a move to incorporate the Glengarries for service along the

=7

frontier.

By 1839-40, most of the excitement of the rebellion had dissipated

althoush the lessons of the uprising —- the weakness of the defences in
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the Canadas against such an insurgence —- were studied and remedied.
Following the rebellion, a number of military installations in Upper and
Lower Canada were improved and the garrisons increased in the areas

where disaffection had appeared. A confidential report noted that the
inhabitants of the seigneuries surrounding Coteau du Lac would have to

be ''promptly looked after® in the event of another rebellious movement in
Lower Canada.28 But in spite of the warning of the confidential report,
no efforts were made to improve the defences at Coteau du Lac other than
those which had been undertaken during the rebellion itself. Among the
various suggestions which were made concerning the defences of the Canadas
was a tower proposed for the Cascades (which was not built), but otherwise
no changes were made on the upper St. Lawrence. Perhaps it was felt that
the improved Fort Wellington at Prescott would be effective enough to

protect the whole area.

Nevertheless the rebellion left its legacy of suspicion and wariness.
For the decade following 1837, the garrison was not allowed to slip to its
low level of the early 1830s. And the rebellion brought a far-sweeping
investigation of the conditions which had produced discontent. Lord Durham's
report and the subsequent action taken on his recommendations would have

far-reaching effects for the St. Lawrence and Coteau du Lac.



76

Replacement and Decline

Late in May, 1838, John George Lambton, the first Earl of Durham, arrived
in Quebec on board the Hastings. With him he carried five commissions
under the Great Seal which gave him the power to govern all colonies in
British North America and, in addition, the responsibility for recom-
mending solutions to the problems which had given rise to the rebellions.
He remained in British North America five frantically busy months, moving
about in the troubled society, making observations, reviewing abundant

submissions, collecting and digesting information. His Report on the

Affairs of British North America was submitted in 1839 after his return

to Tngland. One year later he was dead.

Few accepted Durham's report in its entirety: it embraced political,
economic and cultural aspects which could scarcely be relished by a single
palate, But many of his recommendations —- some altered considerably —-
were adopted to form the basis of the solution to the problems of the
Canadas. Central to Durham's report was the recommendation of the union
of Upper and Lower Canada, primarily, as Durham noted, to bring about the
assimilation of the French Canadians. The cultural struggle between French
and English was viewed by him as the major source of friction in the lower
province. But the union was also intended to strengthen the two provinces
economically and to allow unfettered development of their resources. In
1839, Upper Canada lay prostrate economically, with an impossible public

debt of over £1 million, its credit ruined and public works unfinished.
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In Lower Canada development had been halted by a recalcitrant assembly,

unwilling to vote funds for public works on the St, Lawrence. By uniting
the Montreal merchants with those of Upper Canada, the opposition to the
expenditure of funds for canal construction and other improvements could

be overcome. Through union would also come a stronger financial base.

The unicn of the two Canadas came into effect 10 February 1841 under
the watchful eye of Lord Sydenham, the newly appointed governor, who
immecdiately set about making the political solution a practical entity.

A vicious election was fought bringing victory to the ministerial
supporters under Sydenhamfs adroit management. The new parliament was

scheduled to neet 13 June,

In his Speech from the Throne, Sydenham announced an imperial guaran-
teed loan of £1.5 million. The idea of an imperial guarantee had first
been advanced by the assenbly of Upper Canada in 1838 as a neans of
relieving the Upper Canadian debt, and Durham recommended a loan to place
the united Canadas on a firm financial footing. Now it had been approved;
with the backing of the British government the credit of the colony was
restored. Union of the Canadas had removed the political obstacles
standing in the way of development and the promise of the guaranteed loan

now swept away the problem of finance.

Over the next year the terms of the loan were worked out and permis-
sion obtained to use the borrowed money, not to refinance the public debt
as first intended but to continue old public works and to break ground on

new projects. Under Sydenham'!s direction, acts were passed which provided
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for the buying out of private interests involved in the Welland Canal
and for the improvement of St. Lawrence navigation. A single board of
works was instituted for the whole union and presided over by

H. H. Killaly. The basis for development was established, and awaited

only the availability of funds in 18,3.

With a zeal finally untrammelled, the union government leapt into
canal construction. The much delayed Cornwall Canal, started in 183 by
the old province of Upper Canada, was finally completed in 1843 with six
locks 200 feet by 55 feet and a 9=foot draught. And by 18L7 the
Williamsburg canals had been completed, bypassing a set of rapids which
were navigable but only with difficulty. Between 1843 and 1848, the

Lachine Canal was enlarged to a depth of 9 feet.

By far the most ambitious project was the construction of the
Beauharnois Canal between Lake St. Francis and Lake St. Louis. This
stretch of the St. Lawrence had long been looked upon as an srea requiring
a more adequate passage than that afforded by the Coteau canal and the
other military canals on the river, In 1834, an engineer, David Mills,
acting on the report of the Commission on Canals of 1833, had recommended
three larger csnals on the north side of the river. This was not acted

upon but the pressure continued for some sort of improvenent.

With union, the means of construction were suddenly made aveilable
and the construction of the Beauharnois Canal could leave the realm of
speculative discussion and enter the planning stage. Here was found a

controversy betveen advocates of a route on the north side of the river,
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a more defensible location supported by the inhabitants living on the
north shore who were dependent upon the traditional communications line,
and those who wanted the canal to be constructed on the south side of
the river. A not disinterested Edward Gibbon ilakefield, who at this time
was acting as agent for the Beauharnois Land Company which would benefit
directly from having the canal pass through the Beauharnois seigneury,
played a large part in having the southern route selected. Construction
began in 1842 and was finished by 1848, completely bypassing the stretch
of the St. Lawrcnce between Lake St. rFrancis and Lake St. Louis with its
11} mile length. The nine locks overcame a difference in level of 82,5
feet with a navigable depth of 9 feet. With its completion the whole of
the 5t. Lawrence from Montreal to Kingston was equipped with canals 9

feet in depth.

Thus the Beauharnois Canal replaced the canal at Coteau du Lac, long
obsolete., Still there was reluctance on the part of the British government
to abandon the site. A report in the mid-1840s mentioned that the old
St. Lawrence bateau carals had been superceded by the Beauharnois, but
noted that they "may still be of use in case of accidents happening to
that cénal (either during peace or war) for the transport of stores & c.
to Lake St. Francis."™ When the Commissariat Department considered
handing over the St. Lawrence canals to the provincial government, the
Master General and Board of Ordnance refused the transfer on the grounds
that the site at Coteau du Lac was still necessary for defensive purposes,
a decision taken against a backdrop of uneasy relations between Great

Britain and the United States over the Oregon boundary.2 Although the
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fort was still considered valuable for defensive purposes, in 18L6-L7
the garrison at the fort consisted only of 15 men which was reduced by
the following year to one sergeant and ten rank and file of the Canadian

Rifle Regiment.3

In 1851, when the crisis with the United States had passed, the
Board of Ordnance decided that the establishment at the canals should
be reduced and the canals closed, subject to their use for military
purposes.h By the following year the average nuriber of troops stationed
at Coteau du Lac had been reduced to eight, although in 1853 there were
one sergeant and seven rank and file of the Royal Canadian Rifles and
one sergeant and three rank and file of the Royal Artillery stationed
there.” In 1853 the detachment consisted only of one sergeant, one

corporal and six privates.6

By the mid-1850s, the Board of Ordnance was finally prepared to
consider giving up the site at Coteau du Lac as it reassessed the military
value of a number of ordnance properties throughout Canada East and
Canada West. Only those positions which were considered essential for
defence and necessary for the small contingent of imperial troops in
Canada were retained. The threat of another rebellion or an attack from
the south seemed remote. Also there was considerable pressure in England
to reduce the expenditure for garrisons within the colonies of the empire.
According to the prevailing thought in Great Britain, it was only a
natter of time before the colonies would break away from the mother country
to assume an independent path. Large expenditures for defence seemed to

be unwarranted and unnecessary; the colonies themselves should be
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responsible for their defence. Several ordnance and admniralty reserves,
including that at Coteau du Lac, were therefore transferred in 1856 to

the union government.7

The site at Coteau du Lac was given over to the Crown Lands Depart-
ment, then under the direction of William Coffin. The actual physical
takeover of the post was carried out during the next year. Alexander
Yladdell, the barracks sergeant, continued to reside at the fort with his
family to take care of the stores remaining there.8 In the meantime,
Coffin searched for ways in_which to use the site. There was consideratle
pressure to lease the land for its waterpower potential but Coffin,
mindful of rilitary needs, vas reluctant to lose possession of the
property which he considered as 'necessary to the defence of the Province
now, as at any former per‘iod."9 Any lease of the land nust carry the
ricer that the property revert to the government in the event that it was
required for defensive purposes. llevertheless, the property was released
for purposes of leasing in May 1857 and durirg the summer G. F. Baillargé,
an engineer vwith the Public ‘lorks Department, was sent to Coteau du Lac
to assess its waterpower potential sc the Crown Lands Departient could

; 10
know its rental value.

Baillargé submitted his report in September 1857.ll He had found
three significant sources of waterpower, exploiting the zight- Lo nine-
foot drop in water level in the St, Lawrence; the old channel around the
point of land, the canal itself, and the ditch which could be used by
making cuts directly through to the St. Lawrence. VWith minor modiiications

the three could serve as mill-races which would support one or two mills
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each., His plan, plotting the various mills, proposed a significant
industrial developrment but the eventual use of the property never

approached Baillargéts ambitious scheme.

By the spring of 1858, the British government prepared to remove

the stores from Coteau du Lac. Waddell, whose position as barracks
sergeant would end with their removal, wrote to Coffin requesting
permission to stay on in the commandant?s quarters and offering to serve
as caretaker in return.12 His offer was not accepted, and in September
he left for Grand Falls, New Brunswick, to take up new duties, At the end
of the month the property at Coteauw du Lac was let to "L, Adams Esquire,
H. P. and postmaster who lives contiguous to the property, for one year
at a rent of sixty dollars, conditional that he restore the premises in

(o]
their present order. '3

Adams continued to rent the property which he used for pasturage
until 1865 when a Williaw Dixon took over the lease. Apvarently Adams was
not willineg to give up the fort; in May, 1865, Dixon wrote to Coffin
complaining that Adams would not gllew him on the property.lZF The Adams—
Dixon feud was settled in the following year when the property was leased
t.¢ a third party, Georges Beaudet, a local entrepreneur who planned to
build a mill on the site.l® Beaudet paid $200 rent, was required to keep
the canal in usable condition and the buildings in repair, and was to
hand the property over the government immediately in the event of war.
Decause Beaudet planned to build his mill on the canal, Coffin was
reluctant to allow him to use the waterpower, for in the troubled 1860s,

war with the United States appeared once more imminent,
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Events have occurred too, of late year, which may create a
doubt as to the expediency of employing the water power made
by the canal at the Coteau Fort in such a way as to preclude
the employment of the canal itself. Should the Beauharnois
Canal, under any eventuality, be interrupted or destroyed,
the usefulness of the Coteau canal for military purposes

would arise.lé

Beaudetts lease carried another restriction; that the property
should revert to the government on two months notice if the suit of the
Honourable De Beaujeu should be decided against the government. !, De
Beaujeu the seigneur of Soulanges, claimed that the fort property was
rightfully his. The land had been taken without compensation during the
American Revolution for the construction of storehouses and the canal.,
low that it was no longer required for defensive purposes, it should
revert to him or he should receive compensation. The suit against the
government dragged on for decades until it was finally decided in favour
of the government. In the meantime the government held contested title to
the land and De Beaujeu periodically visited the site to assert his claim.
In 1863, for instance, he came with his men "and pulled down some of the
cut stone in the wall of the barrack and attempted to remove the same."l7
He was stopped by Adams the lessee, but he later returned to quarry stone

at the edge of the Delisle River.

In spite of De Beaujeuts suit, Beaudet was allowed to build a sawmill
on the north end of the canal. The rest of the buildings dating back to

the military occupation of the fort were fast falling into ruins. In 1868,
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William Coffin visited the site and recommended that the dilapidated
structures be sold for the value of their materials.l® In 1870, two of

the more substantial buildings on the site, the commandant!s quarters

and commissariat officer's quarters, were destroyed by {ire. But not

until 1872 was Coffin's advice accepted and the buildings sold in auction.l?

The materials were bought and presumably hauled off to be used elsewhere.

Beaudet continued to operate his mill on the property until the end
of the 1880s, although he began to meet stiff competition from steam
mills which were erected in the area in the 1870s. In 1880-81l, a number
of entrepreneurs including Béaudet and Oscar Dunn of Quebec, approached
the Department of the Interior with a scheme involving a development of
the site similar to that proposed by Baillargé in 1857.20 A lease was
issued in Dunn's name in 1881, but Beaudet continued to operate his mill
through an agreement with Dunn. The grand industrial scheme proposed by
Dunn and his associates was never constructed. Dunn died after a short
time with nothing accomplished, and in 1885 the lease was cancelled.

Beaudet continued to rent the land for a nominal fee of $15.2l

By the end of the 1880s, the government was concerned about the
limited returns from Coteau du Lac, a site which they felt contained
lucrative mill seats. In 1889, they announced that they planned to place
the lease up for auction for a Z2l-year period.22 Beaudet obtained
permission to remove his mill and presumably did so.23 However when a
group of M"capitalists" expressed interest in the land for the development
of its waterpower, it was told that the land was not available for it

2l

might be required for canal construction;”" and when construction of the
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Soulanges Canal began in 1891, the land at Coteau-du-Lac was transferred
to the Department of Railways and Canals which required the waterpower
"for various purposes in connection with the new canal."25 When a request
was made for the land in 1906, it was still in use by the Department of

Railways and Canals because of the "important quarry" located on it.

It was appropriate that the site of the earliest canal on the St.
Lawrence should prove valuable in the construction of the Soulanges Canal,
a part of a scheme at the end of the 19th century to widen and deepen the
St. Lawrence route to the interior. Where once a small canal at Coteau-—
du-Lac for bateaux and Durham boats had satisfied the demands placed on
the river route, now a steamboat canal was required. It, too, would be
replaced in the future by an even deeper and wider channel which would
allow ocean-going vessels to penetrate far into the North American

continent,
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